# WESTERN SYDNEY UNIVERSITY



# Evaluating mGlu5 knockout mice as a model of morphine addiction susceptibility

Erin McLemon School of Medicine Western Sydney University

Supervisors: Dr. Rose Chesworth and Prof. Tim Karl School of Medicine Western Sydney University

> A thesis by Erin McLemon presented to Western Sydney University In fulfillment of the requirements For the degree of *Master of Research* March 2022

#### **Statement of Authentication**

This thesis is submitted in fulfillment of the requirements for the degree *Master of Research* at Western Sydney University. I, Erin McLemon, hereby declare that the work submitted in this thesis, titled *'Evaluating mGlu5 knockout mice as a model of morphine addiction susceptibility*' is originally and authentically the result of my own research endeavour, under the guidance of my supervisors Dr. Rose Chesworth and Prof. Tim Karl. The work presented in this thesis, is to the best of my knowledge and belief, original except as acknowledged in the text. I hereby declare that I have not submitted this material, either in full or in part, for a degree at this or any other institution.



1 March 2022

Date

## Dedication

I would like to dedicate this thesis to my late grandmother, who passed away in 2020 halfway through my candidature for this degree. Her support and encouragement were vital to the development of my academic abilities and my pursuit of a research career.

#### Acknowledgements

First, I would like to acknowledge and express my sincere appreciation for my supervisors, Dr Rose Chesworth and Professor Tim Karl. The wealth of knowledge and skills they provided was essential to developing this thesis. In the two years I spent completing this Master's course, I learned a lot about research, behavioural neuroscience and statistical analysis thanks to the time and energy to support me. Thank you for your guidance, advice and feedback on this project. I am lucky to have been one of your students and a member of the Karl Lab. I hope to live up to your confidence in my research abilities in my future endeavours.

Secondly, I would like to thank the members of the Karl Lab who have welcomed me to their team, shared their skills, knowledge, friendship and support and have in some way contributed to the development of this thesis. Rossana Rosa Porto, Fabian Kreilaus and Gabriela Vision, thank you for training me in tissue collection and providing advice on interpreting my results. I would also like to thank Madylin Coles and fellow Master's student Jennifer Collins for your support and advice and for acting as a sounding board for ideas. I also have an additional thanks for Jennifer for navigating the completion of this degree with me and providing a final proofread of this thesis. Thank you to the animal facility manager and assistant Nikola Mills and Lauren Hughes for training on animal handling and the care you provided to the experimental animals.

Finally, I would like to thank my friends and family for their love and support as I completed this thesis. While you have all provided invaluable support, I must give a special thanks to Dr Fernando San Gil and Caroline Falls for providing feedback on this thesis, in addition to providing advice and support for achieving my goals.

# **Table of Contents**

Table of Contents	i
Abstract	iv
List of Figures	vi
List of Tables	ix
List of abbreviations	X
Chapter 1: Introduction	
1.1 The "Opioid Epidemic"	1
1.1.1 Current treatment options	2
1.1.2 Sex differences in opioid addiction	2
1.2 The Endogenous Opioid System	
1.3 Addiction	5
1.3.1 Dopaminergic System Involvement in Addiction	8
1.3.2 Glutamatergic System Involvement in Addiction	8
1.3.3 Involvement of the Metabatropic Glutamate 5 Receptor in Opioid Abuse	9
1.4 Animal models of addiction	
1.4.1 Conditioned Place Preference	
1.4.2 Self-administration	12
1.4.3 Pharmacological mGlu5 studies	12
1.4.4 mGlu5 Knockout (KO) mice	15
1.5 Hypotheses	
1.6 Aims of Thesis	
Chapter 2: Methods	
2.1 Animals	
2.2 Drugs	
2.3 Apparatus	

2.4 General Experimental Procedures	20
2.4.1 Habituation	20
2.4.2 Conditioning	21
2.4.3 Tests	21
2.5 Experiment 1: Morphine CPP validation	22
2.6 Experiment 2: Effect of mGlu5 deletion on 5 mg/kg morphine place preference	23
2.7 Experiment 3: Effect of mGlu5 deletion on 10 mg/kg morphine place preference	24
2.7 Statistical analysis	25
Chapter 3: Results	26
3.1 Experiment 1: Morphine CPP Validation	26
3.1.1 Habituation	26
3.1.2 Conditioning	27
3.1.3 Test	29
3.2 Experiment 2: Effect of mGlu5 deletion on 5 mg/kg morphine place preference	30
3.2.1 Habituation	30
3.2.2 Conditioning	31
3.2.3 Test	33
3.2.4 Test Time-course	36
3.3 Experiment 3: Effect of mGlu5 deletion on 10 mg/kg morphine place preference	41
3.3.1 Habituation	41
3.3.2 Conditioning	43
3.3.3 Tests	43
3.3.4 Test Time-course	47
Chapter 4: Discussion	51
4.1 Summary of results	51
4.2 Genotype and sex effects on morphine reward	52
4.3 Genotype and sex effects on morphine locomotion and sensitisation	56
4.4 No genotype effect on the acquisition of morphine CPP	58
4.5 Methodological considerations	59

4.6 Limitations	60
4.7 Conclusion	60
References	62
Appendices	75
Appendix A: Timecourse data for Tests 3, 4 and 5 for Experiment 2	75
Appendix B: Timecourse data for Tests 3, 4 and 5 for Experiment 3	81

#### Abstract

*Introduction:* Globally, opioid addiction causes significant health, social and economic costs. There has been an increasing trend of opioid dependence and abuse in high-income countries, and long term opioid use is associated with significant health costs. Additionally, there are substantial sex differences in opioid addiction as men report higher lifetime use of opioids; however, women are more likely to relapse during abstinence. Opioid addiction is also accompanied by significant neural adaptations that drive an abstinence-relapse cycle and the development of opioid addiction-relevant behaviours. Current treatments are limited and do not address these biological processes. The metabotropic glutamate 5 receptor (mGlu5) receptor is a potential target for treating addiction. Mice with a genetic deletion (i.e. knockout, KO) of mGlu5 exhibit addiction-like behaviour for psychostimulants and ethanol, but their response to opioids has yet to be examined. Assessing opioid addiction-like behaviour in these mice, and testing for potential sex-differences in their reward and locomotor response to morphine, will determine if mGlu5 could be a treatment target for opioid abuse.

*Materials and Methods:* The effects of mGlu5 deletion on morphine conditioned place preference (CPP) were assessed. Male and female mGlu5 KO and WT-like mice were conditioned to associate 5 mg/kg or 10 mg/kg morphine with a distinct environment over 4 consecutive days. Following conditioning, preference for the morphine-paired environment (i.e. time spent in the morphine environment) was assessed weekly for 4 weeks during abstinence from morphine, to test the persistence of morphine memory. A persistent preference for the morphine-paired environment during abstinence is an indicator of drug craving and risk of relapse. During all conditioning and test sessions, locomotor data was collected and assessed for morphine-induced locomotion and locomotor sensitisation.

*Results:* Male and female WT-like and mGlu5 KO mice acquired morphine CPP for 5 and 10 mg/kg morphine. Female mice had a higher preference for 5 mg/kg morphine than male

mice. There were no sex-differences in preference for 10 mg/kg morphine. Female mGlu5 KO had a persistent preference for a morphine-paired environment for 5 mg/kg morphine. mGlu5 KO mice, regardless of sex, showed morphine-induced hypolocomotion for 5 mg/kg morphine and hyperlocomotion for 10 mg/kg morphine. Both 5 and 10 mg/kg morphine induced hyperlocomotion in WT-like mice. Female mGlu5 KO mice developed locomotor sensitisation to 5 mg/kg morphine while all mice showed locomotor sensitisation to 10 mg/kg morphine.

*Summary and Conclusion:* mGlu5 modulation of morphine reward was sex-specific and dose-dependent. These results suggest that mGlu5 deletion did not affect morphine reward in male mice, but female mGlu5 KO mice are more sensitive to the rewarding effects of morphine than female WT-like mice. mGlu5 mediates sensitivity to morphine-induced locomotion in both male and female mice. These findings emphasise the importance of considering sex effects in opioid addiction research. Further investigation into the effect of mGlu5 deletion on morphine addiction-relevant should consider its impact on an operant model of addiction, like self-administration, as well as the state-dependent effect of morphine on learning. In conclusion, this thesis suggests that mGlu5 may mediate the known sex differences in opioid addiction.

# List of Figures

Figure 1: Diagram of the reward circuits and neurotransmitters involved	
in morphine reward in rodent brain taken from Kim et al. (2016).	7
Figure 2: CPP apparatus	20
Figure 3: Timeline for general CPP procedure.	20
Figure 4: Timeline for Experiment 1.	22
Figure 5: Timeline Experiment 2.	23
Figure 6: Timeline Experiment 3.	24
Figure 7: Time spent in zones during habituation in C57BL/6J mice.	26
Figure 8: Distance travelled by C57BL/6J mice during habituation.	27
Figure 9: Locomotor response of C57BL/6J to 1, 2, 5 or 10 mg/kg morphine	28
Figure 10: Preference for 1, 2, 5 or 10 mg/kg morphine in C57BL/6J mice	29
Figure 11: Time spent in zones during habituation in male and female WT-like and mGlu5 KO mice.	31
Figure 12: Distance travelled by male and female WT-like and mGlu5 KO	
mice during habituation.	32
Figure 13: Locomotor response of WT-like and mGlu5 KO mice to	
repeated 5 mg/kg morphine.	33
Figure 14: Preference following conditioning with 5 mg/kg morphine in	
male and temale WT-like and mGlu5 KO mice.	35
Figure 15: Time spent in zones during Test 1 in male and female WT-like	27
and inglus KO mice.	

Figure 16: Distance travelled in zones by male and female WT-like and	
mGlu5 KO mice during Test 1.	
Figure 17: Time spent in zones during Test 2 in male and female WT-like	
and mGlu5 KO mice.	
Figure 18: Distance travelled in zones by male and female WT-like and	
mGlu5 KO mice during Test 2.	40
Figure 19: Time spent in zones during habituation in male and female	
WT-like and mGlu5 KO mice.	41
Figure 20: Distance travelled by male and female WT-like and mGlu5 mice during	
habituation.	42
Figure 21: Locomotor response of male and female WT-like and mGlu5 KO	
mice to 10 mg/kg morphine.	44
Figure 22: Preference following conditioning with 10 or mg/kg morphine	
in male and female WT-like and mGlu5 KO mice.	45
Figure 23: Residuals following conditioning with 10 or mg/kg morphine	
in male and female WT-like and mGlu5 KO mice.	46
Figure 24: Time spent in zones during Test 1 in male and female WT-like	
and mGlu5 KO mice.	47
Figure 25: Distance travelled in zones by male and female WT-like and	
mGlu5 KO mice during Test 1.	48
Figure 26: Time spent in zones during Test 2 in male and female WT-like	
and mGlu5 mice	49
Figure 27: Distance travelled in zones by male and female WT-like and	
mGlu5 mice during Test 2.	50
Supplementary Figure 1: Time spent in zones during Test 3 in male and	
female WT-like and mGlu5 KO mice.	75

Supplementary Figure 2: Distance travelled in zones by male and female	
WT-like and mGlu5 KO mice during Test 3.	
Supplementary Figure 3: Time spent in zones during Test 4 in male and	
female WT-like and mGlu5 KO mice.	77
Supplementary Figure 4: Distance travelled in zones by male and female	
WT-like and mGlu5 KO mice during Test 4.	
Supplementary Figure 5: Time spent in zones during Test 5 in male and	
female WT-like and mGlu5 KO mice.	79
Supplementary Figure 6: Distance travelled in zones by male and female	
WT-like and mGlu5 KO mice during Test 5.	80
Supplementary Figure 7: Time spent in zones during Test 3 in male and	
female WT-like and mGlu5 KO mice.	81
Supplementary Figure 8: Distance travelled in zones by male and female	
WT-like and mGlu5 KO mice during Test 3.	
Supplementary Figure 9: Time spent in zones during Test 4 in male and	
female WT-like and mGlu5 KO mice.	
Supplementary Figure 10: Distance travelled in zones by male and female	
WT-like and mGlu5 KO mice during Test 4.	
Supplementary Figure 11: Time spent in zones during Test 5 in male and	
female WT-like and mGlu5 KO mice.	
Supplementary Figure 12: Distance travelled in zones by male and female	
WT-like and mGlu5 KO mice during Test 5.	

# List of Tables

Table 1. Summary of pharmacological investigation of mGlu5 and opioids	
in rodents	13
Table 2. Number of mice used in Experiment 2 and 3	18
Table 3. Number of mice used in Experiment 2 and 3	18
Table 4: Total time spent in zones during habituation in male and female	
WT-like and mGlu5 KO mice.	30

# List of abbreviations

ACEC	Western Sydney University Animal Care and Ethics Committee		
AMPA	$\alpha$ -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptor		
ANOVA	analysis of variance		
Ca2+	calcium		
cAMP	cyclic-AMP		
CPP	conditioned place preference		
CREB	cAMP response element-binding protein		
CRF	corticotropin-releasing factor		
D1	dopamine 1 receptor		
D2	dopamine 2 receptor		
DOR	δ-opioid receptor		
HPA	hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis		
HPC	hippocampus		
i.p.	intraperitoneal		
K+	potassium		
KO	knockout		
KOR	κ-opioid receptor		
LC	locus coeruleus		
LTD	long term depression		
LTP	long term potentiation		
mGlu5	metabotropic glutamate 5 receptor		
MOR	μ-opioid receptor		
MPEP	2-methyl-6-(phenylethynyl)-pyridine		
MSN	medium spiny neurons		
MTEP	3-[(2-methyl-1, 3-thiazol-4-yl) ethynyl] pyridine		
NAc	nucleus accumbens		
NMDA	N-methyl D-aspartate receptor		
PFC	prefrontal cortex		
РКС	protein kinase C		
RM	repeated measures		
SEM	standard error of the mean		
VTA	ventral tegmental area		
WHO	World Health Organisation		
WT	wild type		

# **Chapter 1: Introduction**

#### 1.1 The "Opioid Epidemic"

Opioid addiction is a growing problem with increasing health, social and economic costs. Known colloquially as the "opioid epidemic", opioid dependence, abuse and associated deaths have significantly increased in the last thirty years. This has had a significant impact on public health systems. Between 2010 and 2019 the number of opioid users almost doubled to nearly 62 million users worldwide (World Health Organisation (WHO) 2021). This has been especially apparent in high-income countries like Australia (Degenhardt et al. 2014), where between 1992 and 2012 opioid dispensations primarily intended for pain management, increased by 15-fold (Blanch, Pearson & Haber 2014). Between 2001 and 2012 there was a significant increase in opioid related deaths in Australia, from 21.9 to 36.2 per million population, largely due to pharmaceutical opioid prescribed for pain management as opposed to illicit opioid use (Roxburgh et al. 2017).

In addition to deaths, opioid abuse is associated with the development of opioid tolerance and toxicity, and an increased risk of anxiety and depression (Cahill et al. 2016; Compton, Boyle & Wargo 2015). Nausea, constipation, sedation, dental problems, long-term hypothalamicpituitary axis dysfunction, immunosuppression, loss of bone density in men, and predisposition to liver and respiratory diseases are common symptoms of opioid toxicity (Murnion 2012). After long term use, ceasing opioid use can cause withdrawal symptoms including increased heart rate, blood pressure and perspiration as well as fluctuating body temperature and joint and muscle aches (Scavone, Sterling & Van Bockstaele 2013). Opioid abuse also has significant economic costs, estimated to cost Australia around \$15.76 billion in 2015/16 (Whetton 2016). The social and economic costs have led to changes in public health policy to increase education about opioid abuse and restrict the availability of opioid-class drugs (Armstrong et al. 2020). Public health interventions are having an impact with a reduction in non-medical use of pain killers in Australia, from 3.6% in 2016 to 2.7% in 2019 (Australian Institute of Health and Welfare 2020). However, opioid abuse disorder remains a significant global public health concern (World Health Organisation (WHO) 2021) and there are limited options for treatment. Currently, treatment focuses on reducing the symptoms of withdrawal and relapse by replacement therapy with opioid agonists like methadone and buprenorphine (Kaplan et al. 2011; Sue Henry-Edwards, James Bell & Alison Ritter 2003). However, these treatments do not address the underlying pathophysiology that drives addiction-relevant behaviour such as relapse (Koch & Hollt 2008; Listos et al. 2019; Mazei-Robison et al. 2011). Additionally, there are significant sex differences in incidence and predisposition to opioid addiction (detailed further below (Back et al. 2010; Goetz, Becker & Mazure 2021; Kokane & Perrotti 2020; Serdarevic, Striley & Cottler 2017)). Therefore, in order to successfully treat and address the significant social and economic costs of opioid addiction, it is imperative that not only potential therapeutic targets are identified, their potential sex-dependent effects also need to be investigated.

#### 1.1.1 Current treatment options

Current treatment for opioid abuse is focused on managing opioid dependence and withdrawal symptoms through the use of opioid agonists like buprenorphine or methadone (Murnion 2012). While these treatments can prevent withdrawal and relapse (Hurd et al. 2015) they also have the same side effects as long-term opioid use, including the development of opioid toxicity (Murnion 2012). Further, patients on replacement therapy have a higher incidence of poly-drug abuse and increased risk of catching blood-borne diseases (Murnion 2012). Importantly, current treatments do not address the neurochemical changes that result from long-term opioid abuse and the underlying pathophysiology of addiction. Greater understanding of these neurochemical changes and identification of potential treatment targets is required to improve management of the public health crisis.

#### 1.1.2 Sex differences in opioid addiction

There are significant differences between sexes in the development and pattern of opioid use. Men report a higher lifetime use of opioids (Back et al. 2010), are more likely to use nonprescription opioid drugs (Back et al. 2010), and have a higher incidence of opioid related deaths (Roxburgh et al. 2017). However, women are more likely to use prescription opioids (Serdarevic, Striley & Cottler 2017), which correlates with their higher incidence of chronic pain conditions (Goetz, Becker & Mazure 2021) and women with substance use disorder are more likely to report opioids as their primary drug of choice (Kokane & Perrotti 2020). In addition to these differences in patterns of use there are significant differences between the sexes in risk factors for opioid abuse. Due to chronic pain conditions women are more likely to be prescribed opioid pain relievers for long periods of time (Goetz, Becker & Mazure 2021) which increases the risks of developing opioid addiction. Additionally, women have been shown to more rapidly transition toward opioid dependence and report stronger withdrawal symptoms (Kokane & Perrotti 2020). There is evidence that this is related to sex differences in the pain regulation and symptoms of opioid withdrawal that are mediated by KOR (Chartoff & Mavrikaki 2015). Further, women are more likely to relapse after a period of abstinence and are less likely to seek treatment for opioid abuse (Kokane & Perrotti 2020). However, it is unclear whether social factors are at play since opioid abuse is more stigmatised for men than women (Weeks & Stenstrom 2020) which may encourage men to seek treatment. Overall, although men more frequently develop opioid addiction, women are more susceptible to opioid abuse patterns. Further investigation is required to isolate the specific mechanisms involved in these differences, and to understand how they impact on response to treatment for opioid abuse.

#### 1.2 The Endogenous Opioid System

Opioid drugs act on the endogenous opioid system to mediate their rewarding effects. The endogenous opioid system is composed of receptors and peptide chains found in the central, peripheral, and enteric nervous systems. It has several important functions including pain relief, mood regulation, stress modulation and reward (Bodnar 2017) which all play a significant role in the development of addiction pathology (Trigo et al. 2010). The primary peptides of the system are  $\beta$ -endorphin, met- and leu-enkephalin, dynorphins, and neo-endorphins as well as three precursor peptides proopiomelanocortin, proenkephalin, and prodynorphin (Kieffer & Gaveriaux-Ruff 2002). There are three types of opioid receptors,  $\mu$ - (MOR),  $\delta$ - (DOR) and  $\kappa$ - (KOR), which are highly expressed in the ventral tegmental area (VTA), nucleus accumbens (NAc), hypothalamus and amygdala (Ghozland et al. 2002). MOR, DOR and KOR are G-coupled

receptors that, when activated, inhibit adenylyl cyclase activity which blocks calcium (Ca<sup>2+</sup>) channels and activates potassium (K<sup>+</sup>) channels (Rodríguez, Mackie & Pickel 2001). While DOR has been shown to play a role in the maintenance of opioid reward (Bhargava 1991), MOR has the highest implication for opioid addiction (Kieffer & Gaveriaux-Ruff 2002) due to its involvement in opioid reward and involvement in opioid tolerance and dependence.

MOR activation is highly implicated in the rewarding effects of opioids as well as the development of opioid tolerance and dependence. Opioid class drugs have a high affinity for MOR (Law, Wong & Loh 2000; Le Merrer et al. 2009) and MOR activation can cause dopamine release in the VTA via inhibition of GABA and/or direct excitement of dopamine neurons, both of which cause the rewarding effects of opioids (Margolis et al. 2014). Additionally, MOR increases presynaptic dopamine release in the striatum (Kuschinsky & Hornykiewicz 1974) and enhances AMPA-mediated transmission of dopamine receptor 1 (D1) while reducing the excitatory input of dopamine receptor 2 (D2) in the NAc shell (Hearing et al. 2016). Common side effects of opioid drugs, like sedation, analgesia and respiratory depression are caused by an inhibitory effect of MOR within the locus coeruleus (LC) which regulates many homeostatic functions including sleep-wake cycle and norepinephrine release (Scavone, Sterling & Van Bockstaele 2013).

Repeated activation of MOR decreases the expression of the cyclic-AMP (cAMP) pathway by decreasing the phosphorylation of cAMP response element-binding protein (CREB) which leads to the up-regulation of norepinephrine synthesis (Scavone, Sterling & Van Bockstaele 2013). Symptoms of opioid withdrawal are caused by a surge in noradrenergic activity between the LC and frontal cortex related to CREB activity (Scavone, Sterling & Van Bockstaele 2013). Tolerance and dependence to opioids are associated with MOR desensitisation via elevated cAMP and g-protein decoupling rather than downregulation of MOR expression (Koch & Hollt 2008; Listos et al. 2019). However, chronic MOR activation is associated with down regulation of K<sup>+</sup> channels which in turn increases the excitability of dopamine neurons in the VTA while also reducing the size of the neurons and their dopamine output to target regions (Mazei-Robison et al. 2011). Abstinence from morphine reduces expression of the immediate early gene *c-Fos* expression in the VTA (Becker, JAJ, Kieffer & Le Merrer 2017). MOR can mediate glutamatergic activity in the NAc via Ca<sup>2+</sup> and K<sup>+</sup> inhibition and chronic MOR activation is linked to glutamatergic dysfunction (Chartoff & Connery 2014). As disruption of glutamate homeostasis is an important step in addiction pathology (Kalivas 2009) this provides a potential link between MOR pharmacology and the development of persistent MOR agonist abuse. Self-administration of morphine is reduced in mice with a knock out (KO) of MOR (Becker, A et al. 2000) which suggests that MOR is necessary for the motivation to take opioid drugs. While opioid drugs primarily target MOR, addiction occurs due to MOR interactions with several other receptors and neural pathways.

#### **1.3 Addiction**

Drug addiction is a complex process involving many physiological changes in the brain that correspond to addiction-associated behaviours. Humans have a natural reward system that promotes evolutionarily beneficial behaviour like food consumption, social interaction and sex (MacNicol 2017). This system has an important and beneficial function in learning, memory and habit formation that is high-jacked by the "high" produced by drugs of abuse and, for susceptible individuals, habitual drug use combines with various environmental and genetic risk factors that lead to drug addiction (Piazza & Deroche-Gamonet 2013). Piazza and Deroche-Gamonet, 2013, described a general theory of the transition to addiction based on three stages. Firstly, drug-use is sporadic and part of recreational activities and does not impact general functionality. Indeed, psychoactive drugs can be effectively used to cope with stress and improve cognitive function in most of the population (Muller 2018). However, a small percentage of drug users, 10-30% depending on the drug of choice, have a susceptibility towards problematic drug use (Piazza & Deroche-Gamonet 2013). Here, at the second stage of transition to addiction, drug use and drug seeking increase in frequency but the negative impacts are still able to be disguised (Piazza & Deroche-Gamonet 2013). At this stage environmental and social cues related to drug use can trigger drug craving and drug-seeking behaviour (Bechara et al. 2019). The third stage occurs when there is a loss of control over drug-taking behaviour (Piazza & Deroche-Gamonet 2013). There is an increase in anxiety when the drug is not available and drug seeking comes at the expense of most other activities, like work or social bonding (De Sa Nogueira, Merienne & Befort 2019). There is also an increase in risk taking in order to achieve a drug "high", which includes undertaking illegal activities and taking increasing doses of the drug which could lead to overdose (De Sa Nogueira, Merienne & Befort 2019). Addiction is primarily characterised by a cycle between drug use, abstinence from drug use, drug craving and relapse back into drug use. This cycle is also driven by physiological changes in the systems involved in reward, memory, learning and habit formation (Kalivas & Volkow 2005). Addiction is also associated with an impairment in extinction learning which makes quitting and maintaining abstinence more difficult as cue-induced drug craving and ease of reinstatement increases risk of relapse (Myers & Carlezon 2010). Therefore, understanding the effects of opioids on these systems is an important step in identifying therapeutic targets to treat opioid addiction.

Reward circuitry and the effect of opioids on neurotransmitters is key to the development of opioid addiction-relevant behaviour (Figure 1). The rewarding properties of opioids begins with the stimulation of dopaminergic neurons in the VTA, via MOR-induced via inhibition of GABA and/or direct excitement of dopamine neurons (Di Chiara & Imperato 1988). These neurons are mediated by GABAnergic interneurons in the VTA which modulate reward and aversion by the projection site of the neuron (Lammel, Lim & Malenka 2014; Lammel et al. 2012; Matsumoto et al. 2016), as rewarding stimuli activates neurons projecting into the NAc (Di Chiara & Imperato 1988; Lammel, Lim & Malenka 2014) and aversive stimuli activate those neurons projecting into the prefrontal cortex (PFC) (Matsumoto et al. 2016). The motivational value of stimuli is modulated by the medium spiny neurons (MSN) of the NAc core (Cooper, Robison & Mazei-Robison 2017) while the behavioural responses to chronic drug abuse are regulated by those of the NAc shell (Cooper, Robison & Mazei-Robison 2017). Goal-directed behaviour, like drug seeking, is mediated by glutamatergic neurons projecting from the PFC to the NAc (Kalivas & Volkow 2005) and dorsomedial striatum (Corbit, Leung & Balleine 2013; Terra et al. 2020; Yin, Knowlton & Balleine 2004) while environmental cues associated with drug taking are reinforced via glutamatergic projections from the hippocampus (HPC) to the NAc (Kalivas & Volkow 2005). Additionally, VTA dopaminergic neurons projecting to the amygdala facilitate drug reinforcement by encoding the association of rewarding stimuli with environmental cues (Kim et al. 2016). Neurons projecting from the hippocampus to the VTA respond to previously rewarding stimuli to

reinforce these drug cues (Kim et al. 2016). Additionally, there is an increased stress-response that encourages drug use due to chronic corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF) over expression in the amygdala that causes hyperactivity in the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis (Flandreau et al. 2012). Changes to the synaptic and structural plasticity in the HPC-PFC-amygdala circuitry means that drug-associated cues acquire incentive salience, meaning that environmental cues or paraphernalia associated with drug taking increase motivation for drug reward (Luo et al. 2013), which when combined with the increased stress response drives drug-seeking behaviour (Bechara et al. 2019). Addiction is also associated with changes in neuroplasticity via the long-term potentiation (LTP) i.e. increased synaptic strength, and long-term depression (LTD) i.e. decreased synaptic strength of glutamatergic synapses in the VTA, NAc, PFC and amygdala (Saal et al. 2003). Changes in LTP and LTD are associated with the expression of addiction-relevant behaviour (Kasanetz 2010; Niehaus, Murali & Kauer 2010; Saal et al. 2003). Therefore, addiction-relevant behaviours are primarily driven by physiological changes in the dopaminergic and glutamatergic systems that encourage habit formation, cause cognitive impairments and reduce impulse control.



**Figure 1: Diagram of the reward circuits and neurotransmitters involved in morphine reward in rodent brain taken from Kim et al. (2016).** Dopaminergic projections (pink) from the ventral tegmental area (VTA) to the nucleus accumbens (NAc), medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC), hippocampus (Hipp), bed nucleus of the stria teminalis (BNST), amygdala (Amy) and dorsal striatum (dST) modulate glutamatergic (blue) and GABAergic (green) neurons. GABAergic transmission from the NAc to the VTA is modulated by glutamatergic projections from the mPFC and Amy, and VTA dopaminergic neurons are modulated by glutamatergic transmission from the mPFC and BNST. Orexinergic (yellow) neurons in the lateral hypothalamus (LH) and GABAergic neurons in the rostromedial tegmental nucleus (RMTg) also modulate VTA dopaminergic neurons.

#### 1.3.1 Dopaminergic System Involvement in Addiction

Dopamine is the neurotransmitter that has been extensively researched in the context of substance abuse. Dopamine activates dopamine receptors which are g-coupled proteins that can be categorised as D1 receptors, that increase cAMP signalling, open sodium channels and increase excitation of neurons (Tejeda et al. 2017), or D2, that decrease cAMP, open potassium channels and increase inhibition of neurons (Tejeda et al. 2017). Acute administration of a variety of drugs is associated with an increase in the synaptic level of dopamine in the NAc from VTA afferents (Volkow et al. 2004) which is essential to encouraging subsequent drugseeking behaviour. Activation of MOR alters the function of D1, but not D2 receptors, by inhibiting the frequency of excitatory post-synaptic currents (James et al. 2013) suggesting that D1 plays a significant role in the initial rewarding and reinforcing effects of opioids. Chronic drug use causes adaptive changes in this circuitry, such as the downregulation of VTA to NAc dopamine release (MacNicol 2017), which reduces sensitivity to natural rewards and encourages individuals to seek drug reward instead to achieve a sufficient 'high' (MacNicol 2017). Additionally, with repeated drug use, instead of simply indicating reward, dopamine signalling starts predicting reward (Volkow et al. 2012; Volkow et al. 2011). This is because repeated drug use creates an increase in responsiveness to drug-associated cues that increases the ability of those cues to increase dopamine release in the dorsal striatum and cause relapse (Sherman et al. 1980; Smith & Aston-Jones 2014; Volkow et al. 2012). Eventually, the increased dopamine activity leads to a reduction in the baseline extracellular dopamine available in the NAc and the expression of D2 in the VTA and striatum (Smith & Aston-Jones 2014; Spielewoy et al. 2000) which is associated with an increase in impulsive behaviour to obtain reward.

#### 1.3.2 Glutamatergic System Involvement in Addiction

While the role of dopamine in addiction has been understood for a long time, research in the past decade has increasingly focused on the role of the glutamatergic system. Glutamate is the primary excitatory neurotransmitter of the central nervous system and glutamate receptors are abundant throughout addiction-relevant brain regions (Quintero 2013). Glutamate also plays a key role in learning and habit formation (Quintero 2013). The glutamatergic system is implicated in drug reward as glutamatergic activity in the VTA modulates dopaminergic activity

in the NAc (Tzschentke). Additionally, opioid use increases glutamate transmission in the NAc (Chartoff & Connery 2014) which, with chronic abuse of opioids, impairs cystine-glutamate exchange, reducing the availability of non-synaptic glutamate (Kalivas 2009) and creates a state of impaired glutamate homeostasis (Kalivas 2009). In mice, acute drug administration is associated with persistent long-term potentiation of the ionotropic glutamate  $\alpha$ -amino-3hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid (AMPA) receptor in the VTA (Saal et al. 2003). The glutamatergic system is of particular interest for opioid addiction as glutamatergic receptors in the NAc play an important role in the formation and maintenance of opioid memory and opioid-seeking behaviour via activation of the ionotropic glutamatergic receptor N-methyl D-aspartate (NMDA)(Peters & De Vries 2012). Activation of NMDA is also required for the increased CREB activity that occurs in response to MOR activation (Chartoff & Connery 2014), indicating that glutamatergic activity plays a key role in the acquisition of opioid reward. Chronic drug use, including opioids, also alters the expression of glutamate receptors, particularly AMPA and NMDA in the NAc and PFC (Ahmadi, Rafieenia & Rostamzadeh 2016; James et al. 2013) which is associated with susceptibility to cue-induced relapse-like behaviour. Repeated morphine administration is associated with an increase in the expression and synaptic strength of AMPA in NAc neurons (James et al. 2013), which is associated with increased LTP via an increase in GABA release from inhibitory neurons in the VTA (Nugent, Penick & Kauer 2007). Therefore, specific glutamate receptors have a significant role in the neuroplastic and other neuroadaptive changes associated with the development of opioid addiction. Investigating the role of particular glutamate receptors could provide greater insight into the role of the glutamatergic system on opioid addiction and provide targets for the development of therapies to treat opioid addiction.

#### 1.3.3 Involvement of the Metabatropic Glutamate 5 Receptor in Opioid Abuse

The metabotropic glutamate 5 receptor (mGlu5) has been identified as a potential target for treating addiction-relevant behaviour. Indeed, low availability of mGlu5 is associated with an increased risk of developing addiction in humans (Cox et al. 2020). mGlu5 is a group 1 metabotropic glutamate receptor that, like opioid receptors, is a g-coupled protein (Brown, Mustafa, et al. 2012; Brown, Stagnitti, et al. 2012). Primarily located on postsynaptic neurons in areas of the brain associated with learning and reward, like the NAc, dorsal striatum and hippocampus (Shigemoto et al. 1993; Valerio et al. 1997), mGlu5 activates phospholipase C and has an excitatory effect on cells via the potentiation of NMDA currents (Anwyl 1999). As it is expressed in reward learning pathways and plays a key role in synaptic plasticity mGlu5 is implicated in drug-related learning and the development of drug-seeking behaviour (Bird et al. 2008).

mGlu5 has also been implicated in several different stages of opioid abuse and addiction. For example, mGlu5-mediated protein kinase C (PKC) activation and intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> mobilisation are critical factors for the expression of opioid reward due to modulating the excitability of dopamine neuron (Popik 2002). Further, chronic morphine use is associated with an increase in mGlu5 protein expression in the limbic forebrain (Aoki et al. 2004) and morphine administration has been shown to up-regulate mGlu5 protein expression in the NAc shell, thalamus, hypothalamus and amygdala (Zanos et al. 2016) in mice. Additionally, mGlu5 modulates locomotor activity as systemic administration of mGlu5 antagonists increase locomotor activity (Guimaraes et al. 2015) and inhibit the increase in locomotor activity seen following repeated administration of morphine (Kotlinska & Bochenski 2007). mGlu5 has strong sex-dependent effects as the dopamine-enhancing effects of the female gonadal hormone oestradiol on amphetamine reward are mediated by mGlu5 (Song et al. 2019). However, the sex-dependent effects of mGlu5 on opioid addiction-relevant behaviour have not yet been investigated. Clinical investigation of the effects of mGlu5 in addiction is difficult due to ethical issues, therefore, animal models of addiction are used instead.

#### 1.4 Animal models of addiction

Animal models of addiction and substance abuse-like behaviour allow the establishment of a highly standardised environment to investigate genetic risk factors and investigate potential treatment targets. There are several animal behavioural models used to study addictionrelevant behaviour, which are based on behavioural similarities to humans (Muller 2018). Self-administration and conditioned place preference (CPP) are two well-established models that assess a variety of features associated with drug addiction, including the rewarding properties of drugs and mechanisms involved in compulsive drug-seeking. Additionally, the effect of addiction on extinction learning, where animals learn that a drug-paired environment (CPP) or behaviour (self-administration) is no longer associated with the drug (Poltyrev & Yaka 2013). Importantly, extinction does not involve forgetting the previous association but learning the new context that the drug is unavailable (Nic Dhonnchadha & Kantak 2011). Self-administration and CPP can be used to assess the different and complementary mechanisms behind the development of drug-associated memories and behaviour.

#### 1.4.1 Conditioned Place Preference

CPP is used to study the rewarding properties of drugs (Rutten, Van Der Kam, De Vry, Bruckmann, et al. 2011). It is a well-established paradigm for studying drug memory and the role of environmental cues on addiction-relevant behaviour (McKendrick & Graziane 2020). Acquisition of drug-associated memory, as well as extinction and reinstatement (a model of relapse) can be modelled in CPP. CPP involves the external administration of the drug and is, therefore, a form of Pavlovian conditioning; as the animal associates the rewarding effects of the drug with the environmental cues (Huston et al. 2013). The expression of this learning is measured by an increase in time spent in the drug-paired environment. Following acquisition animals can be put into extinction training, where repeated exposure to the apparatus without administration of the drug following conditioning is associated with a decrease in time spent in or near a drugpaired environment (Rutten, van der Kam, De Vry & Tzschentke 2011). This makes CPP effective for investigating the role of memory and learning processes in drug abuse, particularly the impact of environmental cues on the formation of habits (McKendrick & Graziane 2020). Extinction learning is also weaker than the original conditioning, and addiction-relevant behaviour can easily be reinstated via several mechanisms including the reintroduction of the drug (Mueller, Perdikaris & Stewart 2002). This association has clinical significance as human research shows there is a strong association with environmental cues and motivation to use the drug (Napier, Herrold & de Wit 2013). CPP is particularly relevant for assessing the effects of spatial learning when using visual, but not tactile, environmental cues (Cunningham, Patel & Milner 2006), and spatial learning is influenced by mGlu5 activity (Naie & Manahan-Vaughan 2004). Another key benefit to CPP is the ability to study the effect of environmental cues on drug craving which are associated with susceptibility for relapse (McKendrick & Graziane 2020). Therefore, CPP can be used to investigate the effect of a treatment or intervention on the formation and persistence of the rewarding effects of drug memory as well as susceptibility to drug-induced relapse.

#### 1.4.2 Self-administration

Self-administration models can be used to study the rewarding effects of drugs as well as compulsive drug-seeking behaviour. Self-administration is an operant model, where drugreward is associated with a specific behaviour (Panlilio & Goldberg 2007), and involves the active decision to administer the drug, in contrast the CPP. Animals are trained to administer drugs orally (Elmer et al. 2010) or intravenously via a jugular vein catheter (Huang et al. 2019) by pressing a lever or by nose poking into a recessed magazine (Navarro et al. 2001; Nguyen et al. 2019). Self-administration protocols usually require a pattern of lever pressing and a discrimination between active and inactive levers to show that the drug administration is deliberate (Chistyakov & Tsibulsky 2006). Successful drug administration is often paired with an environmental cue, e.g. a light or a sound that comes on or off (Navarro et al. 2001). This cue can be used to reactivate lever pressing after a period of abstinence or extinction (Nguyen et al. 2019) where the animal learns that the drug is not available and they stop pressing the lever (Farrell, Schoch & Mahler 2018). In addition to cue-induced reinstatement, self-administration can be reinstated by exposure to stressful stimuli, like foot shock (Shalev et al. 2001), or administration of a priming dose of the drug (Ribeiro Do Couto et al. 2003). The various reinstatement protocols can be used to investigate the effect of environmental cues, stress and drug exposure on drug-craving and risk of relapse and, therefore, self-administration can be used to investigate the effect of a treatment or intervention on drug-reward and the development of addiction-relevant behaviour.

#### 1.4.3 Pharmacological mGlu5 studies

There have been several pharmacological studies that demonstrate that mGlu5 can play a role in the development of opioid addiction-relevant behaviour in rodents summarised in Table 1. The non-competitive mGlu5 antagonist 2-methyl-6-(phenylethynyl)-pyridine (MPEP) dose-dependently inhibits morphine reward measured by CPP in rodents (Aoki et al. 2004;

Table 1. Summary	of	pharmacologi	cal investig	ation of <b>n</b>	Glu5 and	opioids i	n rodents
				7			

Opioid and dose	Ligand and dose	Pharmacological class	Species/Strain	Model	Effect	References
10 mg/kg Morphine	10 and 30 mg/kg MPEP	mGlu5 antagonist	Male C57BL/6J/Han/ Imp mice	СРР	dose-dependently inhibited acquisition	(Popik et al. 2003)
10 mg/kg Morphine	1, 5 and 10 mg/kg MPEP	mGlu5 antagonist	Adult male C57Bl/6J and DBA/2J mice	СРР	no effect	(McGeehan & Olive 2003)
5 mg/kg Morphine	100 nmol MPEP *intracerebroventricular administration	mGlu5 antagonist	Adult male ICR mice	СРР	attenuated acquisition	(Aoki et al. 2004)
10 mg/kg Morphine	10 mg/kg MPEP	mGlu5 antagonist	Adult male Sprague Dawley rats	СРР	expression of CPP state-dependent	(Herzig & Schmidt 2004)
30 mg/kg Morphine	1, 3 and 10 mg/kg MTEP	mGlu5 antagonist	Male C57BL/6J mice	Withdrawal	dose-dependently attenuated symptoms of naloxone-induced morphine withdrawal	(Palucha, Branski & Pilc 2004)
10 mg/kg Morphine or 37.5 mg Morphine by subcutaneous	5 and 10 mg/kg MTEP	mGlu5 antagonist	Male Swiss albino mice	Sensitisation Withdrawal	dose-dependently inhibited expression of locomotor sensitisation dose-dependently attenuated symptoms of morphine withdrawal	(Kotlinska & Bochenski 2007)
0.05 mg/kg/infusion Heroin	1.25-20 mg/kg MPEP	mGlu5 antagonist	Adult male Long Evans rats	Self- administration	dose-dependently reduced self-administration	(van der Kam, Elizabeth L., De Vry & Tzschentke 2007)
0.05 mg/kg/infusion Heroin	1 mg/kg/infusion MPEP	mGlu5 antagonist	Adult male Long Evans rats	Self- administration	self-administration stable after replacement with MPEP	(van der Kam, E. L., De Vry & Tzschentke 2009b)
0.05-0.5 mg/kg Heroin	10 mg/kg MPEP	mGlu5 antagonist	Adult male Sprague Dawley rats	СРР	acquisition potentiated extinction unaffected induced reinstatement	(van der Kam, E. L., De Vry & Tzschentke 2009a)
0.0125-0.5 mg/kg Heroin	10 mg/kg MPEP	mGlu5 antagonist	Adult male Sprague Dawley rats	СРР	potentiated acquisition	(Rutten, Van Der Kam, De Vry, Bruckmann, et al. 2011)
3 mg/kg Morphine	1, 3 and 10 mg/kg MTEP	mGlu5 antagonist	Adult male Wistar rats	СРР	attenuated acquisition no effect on locomotor sensitisation	(Veeneman et al. 2011)
0.1 mg/kg/infusion Morphine	20 mg/kg MTEP	mGlu5 antagonist	Adult male CD1 mice	Self- administration	attenuated self-administration reduced morphine-seeking following abstinence	(Brown, Stagnitti, et al. 2012)

Herzig & Schmidt 2004; Popik 2002). Additionally, a moderate dose of MPEP can reduce heroin self-administration in rats (van der Kam, Elizabeth L., De Vry & Tzschentke 2007). However, a follow-up study showed that this dose potentiated heroin reward under a place preference paradigm (van der Kam, E. L., De Vry & Tzschentke 2009a). Importantly, MPEP treatment at these doses did not induce CPP (Herzig & Schmidt 2004; Popik 2002) but did potentiate opioid reward by lowering the dose that would induce place preference (Rutten, Van Der Kam, De Vry, Bruckmann, et al. 2011). This suggests that mGlu5 modulates sensitivity to opioid reward. Interestingly, MPEP only affected place preference when tested drug-free; when tests were conducted concurrently with morphine administration there was an increase in place preference, indicating that the effects of MPEP on opioid reward are state-dependent (Herzig & Schmidt 2004). Another mGlu5 antagonist 3-[(2-methyl-1, 3-thiazol-4-yl) ethynyl] pyridine (MTEP) dose-dependently blocked morphine place preference in rats (Veeneman et al. 2011) and attenuated self-administration in mice (Brown, Stagnitti, et al. 2012). MTEP is more selective for mGlu5 and has fewer off-target effects than MPEP, particularly in the inhibition of NMDA receptors (Lea & Faden 2006). This suggests that mGlu5 increases sensitivity to opioid reward.

Morphine-induced locomotor activity was found to be unaffected by MPEP or MTEP (Herzig & Schmidt 2004; Kotlinska & Bochenski 2007; van der Kam, E. L., De Vry & Tzschentke 2009a; Veeneman et al. 2011). However, the expression of morphine locomotor sensitisation was attenuated by MTEP (Kotlinska & Bochenski 2007). MTEP also attenuated the symptoms of naloxone-precipitated morphine withdrawal (Kotlinska & Bochenski 2007; Palucha, Branski & Pilc 2004). Further, while MPEP had no effect on the extinction of heroin CPP (van der Kam, E. L., De Vry & Tzschentke 2009a), it was able to induce reinstatement of previously extinguished heroin CPP (van der Kam, E. L., De Vry & Tzschentke 2009a) and replace heroin self-administration in rats (van der Kam, E. L., De Vry & Tzschentke 2009b). However, MTEP did reduce morphine-seeeking following a period of abstinence in mice (Brown, Stagnitti, et al. 2012). Overall, these studies suggest that mGlu5 plays a significant role in the mediation of opioid reward by modulating opioid-reward and locomotor sensitisation.

Additionally, pharmacological studies have significant limitations including drug specificity, pharmacokinetics and drug interactions. MPEP is a non-competitive antagonist that is more potent than MTEP, another noncompetitive mGlu5 antagonist (Carroll 2008). Oral administration shows that these mGlu5 antagonists are rapidly absorbed and metabolised (Lindemann et al. 2011). Although MTEP is more selective for mGlu5 than MPEP (Carroll 2008), it is unclear whether their effects on opioid reward and drug-seeking behaviour described above were mediated by mGlu5 or another off-target receptor like NMDA which MTEP inhibits at high concentrations (Veeneman et al. 2011). Additionally, the doses used in these studies have been shown to affect spatial learning and memory (Naie & Manahan-Vaughan 2004). This is especially significant as spatial learning is a required component of CPP acquisition when using visual and not tactile cues (Cunningham, Patel & Milner 2006). Therefore, impairment of spatial learning by mGlu5 antagonism would also impair the acquisition of CPP. Another limitation of the available pharmacological studies is the limited data on sex differences due to a tendency to avoid testing female mice in order to increase standardisation. This is an important oversight as there is some evidence that oestrogen receptor mediation of group I mGlu receptors plays a significant role in sex differences seen in drug addiction (Tonn Eisinger et al. 2018). Overall, these studies do show there is a potential role for mGlu5 in the development of opioid addiction. However, to overcome issues of receptor specificity, drug tolerance and drug pharmacokinetics, a genetic model needs to be considered.

## 1.4.4 mGlu5 Knockout (KO) mice

Mice with a homozygous knockout (KO) of the mGlu5 receptor provide a genetic model to study how the mGlu5 receptor modifies addiction-relevant brain function and behaviour for opioids. Several studies indicate that these mice display addiction-relevant behavioural and brain changes for drugs such as alcohol, cocaine and methamphetamine. For example, mGlu5 KO mice showed reduced consumption of ethanol compared to wild type (WT)-like mice but an increased preference for a lower dose of ethanol compared to WT-like mice (Bird et al. 2008). This suggests that the reduced consumption may be due to an increased sensitivity to the effects of ethanol rather than reduced ethanol reward. mGlu5 KO mice also have a reduced baseline AMPA/NMDA ratio (Bird et al. 2010) and the cocaine-induced increase of the AMPA/NMDA ratio in

VTA cells is absent in these mice (Bird et al. 2010). This suggests that mGlu5 KO mice have a reduction in drug-induced neuroplasticity. mGlu5 also plays a role in the mediation of druginduced locomotion, with mGlu5 KO mice display a delay in cocaine-induced hyperlocomotion in response to acute administration of cocaine (Bird et al. 2010). However, there is no difference in the expression of cocaine-induced locomotor sensitivity (Bird et al. 2010), which suggests that the reduced drug-induced neuroplasticity in these mice has no effect on behavioural sensitisation. Importantly these mice also show a deficit in extinction learning for psychostimulants, which has implications for the abstinence-relapse cycle that characterises addiction. mGlu5 KO mice show an impaired extinction for cocaine paired environments, increased motivation for cocaine self-administration and a stronger reinstatement of cocaine memory (Bird et al. 2014; Bird et al. 2010). These correlate with an increased susceptibility to drug-taking as well as an increased risk of drug-craving and relapse into drug use during abstinence (Farrell, Schoch & Mahler 2018). The persistence in drug-related memories in mGlu5 KO mice has also been observed for methamphetamine, suggesting that mGlu5 may play a role in reducing methamphetamine use (Chesworth et al. 2013). These studies show that mGlu5 may play an important role in drugrelated learning and memory, and mGlu5 KO mice show a predisposition to addiction-relevant behaviour, like increased drug-seeking and impaired extinction learning, for several different drug classes. However, there are no studies on the behavioural or molecular responses of mGlu5 KO mice to opioid drugs, including to opioid reward, opioid memory and opioid-induced locomotions, as well as sex-differences in their response to opioid drugs.

#### **1.5 Hypotheses**

It is hypothesised that mGlu5 KO mice will be more sensitive to morphine reward, measured as an increased locomotor response and a higher preference for the morphine-paired environment compared to WT-like littermates. Additionally, due to their impaired extinction learning phenotype mGlu5 KO mice will show a persistence of morphine memory compared to WT-like littermates, similar to that observed for psychostimulants. It is also hypothesised that there will be sex differences evident in the expression of morphine reward and persistence in morphine memory, with female mice showing a higher preference for the morphine-paired environment than males.

## 1.6 Aims of Thesis

This thesis aimed to determine the role of mGlu5 in the underlying biology of opioid addiction, particularly its role in opioid-induced locomotion, opioid reward and opioidenvironment memory. It will also assess the effect of mGlu5 deletion on the persistence of opioid memory in order to understand the impact of the receptor on the abstinence-relapse cycle characteristic of addiction. Additionally, this thesis aims to assess sex differences in opioid related learning and addiction-relevant behaviour due to the established effect of sex on susceptibility to opioid addiction.

# **Chapter 2: Methods**

## 2.1 Animals

Experiment 1 used experimentally naïve adult male C57BL/6J from the Animal Resources Centre, Perth, Australia (Table 2). Experiments 2 and 3 used experimentally naïve adult male and female mGlu5 KO mice and WT-like littermates from Australian BioResources, Moss Vale, Australia (Table 3). All WT-like and mGlu5 KO mice came from a heterozygous breeding colony on a C57BL/6J background (Grm5tm1Rod; stock 003558) that was backcrossed >10 generations to the C57BL/6J background (Bird et al. 2014; Chesworth et al. 2013). Experimental subjects were genotyped by Garvan Molecular Genetics according to established genotyping protocols. Experiment 1 used only male mice as it was a validation study to find an appropriate dose for further testing in mGlu5 KO mice. Male and female mGlu5 KO mice were used to test for sex differences in mGlu5 modulation of opioid reward in Experiment 2 and Experiment 3.

Table 2. 1	Number	of mice	used in	Experimen	it 2	and	3.
------------	--------	---------	---------	-----------	------	-----	----

Treatment Group	Number of male C57BL/6J mice
1 mg/kg morphine	12
2 mg/kg morphine	12
5 mg/kg morphine	12
10 mg/kg morphine	12

#### Table 3. Number of mice used in Experiment 2 and 3.

Experiment	Male WT-like mice	Male mGlu5 KO mice	Female WT-like mice	Female mGlu5 KO mice
Experiment 2	12	11	10	7
Experiment 3	14	12	8	9

At least two weeks prior to behavioural testing the mice were transported to the Western Sydney University Animal House where they were kept under a light:dark schedule with lights on 9am – 9pm and red lights during dark phase. The mice were housed in Type 1284B Tecniplast filter top cages in groups of 2-3 per cage. They were provided with corn cob bedding, a wire lid and red domes (Bioserv, Frenchtown, USA) that provided climbing opportunities, and tissues for nesting material. Food and water were available *ad libitum*. The Western Sydney University Animal Care and Ethics Committee approved the present experiments (ACEC #A13865; biosafety #B12856) for the research and animal care procedures as per the Australian Code of Practice for the Care and Use of Animals for Scientific Purposes.

#### 2.2 Drugs

Morphine hydrochloride (In vitro technologies, Noble Park VIC, Australia) was diluted in 0.9% saline, with 0.9% saline used as the drug-free control solution. Morphine was administered in doses of 1, 2, 5 and 10 mg/kg. All doses of drugs were delivered via intraperitoneal (i.p) injection (rotating the injection site with each injection) for a volume of 10 ml/kg body weight using a 0.1 mL syringe.

#### 2.3 Apparatus

A 43.2 x 43.2 cm Med Associates Inc (Vermont, USA) open field was modified to serve as a CPP apparatus. Two equally sized compartments (21.6 x 43.2 cm) were created using black Perspex divider with a 11 x 9 cm opening allowing access to both compartments. Each compartment was distinguished by different wall patterns: the left side of the apparatus had white walls and the right side of the apparatus had white walls with black spots on them (Figure 2). This combination has been shown not to introduce a bias at habituation (Chesworth & Karl 2020; Chesworth et al. 2021). The custom software Activity Monitor by Med Associates Inc was used to automatically record time in zones and locomotor activity using horizontal infrared beams. Software settings for the detection of locomotion were box size: 3; ambulatory trigger: 2; resting delay: 1000 ms; resolution: 100 ms (Karl et al. 2007).



**Figure 2: CPP apparatus.** Modified open field box (43.2 x 43.2 cm) divided into two compartments (21.6 x 43.2 cm) with white walls on the left side and white walls with black spots on the right.

#### **2.4 General Experimental Procedures**

Figure 3 describes the timeline (days 1-6) from habituation to test. The test animals spent 30 mins in their home cages within the experimental room before each session. All sessions were 30 minutes and the apparatus was cleaned with ethanol after each mouse. All experimental procedures were adapted from established protocols (Chesworth & Karl 2020; Chesworth et al. 2021).



**Figure 3: Timeline for general CPP procedure.** During habituation mice are allowed free access to both side of the apparatus. For conditioning mice are confined to one side of the apparatus following i.p. injection of saline (am) or morphine (pm). At test mice are allowed free access to both sides.

#### 2.4.1 Habituation

Habituation (day 1) began 30 mins after light phase onset. The opening between compartments was left open for mice to access each side freely. The mice were randomly placed in either compartment and allowed to explore for 30 mins. Between each test animal the apparatus was cleaned with 80% ethanol. The time spent in each side was used to allocate

drug pairings. Mice who showed a preference for one side (>55 % of total time spent) had the opposite side allocated as the drug paired side. Where mice expressed a neutral preference (45-55 % total time spent in either side) they were randomly allocated a drug-paired side such that 50 % of all mice had morphine paired with the left side and 50 % paired with the right (Chesworth & Karl 2020; Chesworth et al. 2021).

## 2.4.2 Conditioning

The opening between sides of the testing apparatus was closed for all conditioning sessions. Conditioning (days 2-5) started in the morning 30 mins after light phase onset with saline conditioning. For saline conditioning, mice were administered saline i.p. and immediately confined to the saline-paired side. There was a 5h interval between saline and drug conditioning sessions. For drug conditioning, mice were given i.p. injection of morphine and were immediately placed in the morphine-paired side. Locomotor data (distance travelled) was collected to assess for locomotor sensitisation to morphine.

## 2.4.3 Tests

At Test (day 6), mice were initially placed in the saline-paired compartment with the opening between the sides open and preference for the morphine compartment was assessed via a Preference Score (time in morphine-paired side – time in saline-paired side). For Experiment 2 and 3, the test protocol was repeated on a weekly interval for 4 weeks (Test 2, Test 3, Test 4, Test 5) during abstinence to assess how long preference persisted.

## 2.5 Experiment 1: Morphine CPP validation

To validate the morphine CPP protocol, 48 adult male experimentally naive C57BL/6J mice underwent morphine CPP using the general experimental methods outlined above (Figure 4). Following habituation mice were randomly assigned to 1, 2, 5 or 10 mg/kg treatment groups to validate morphine CPP and select an appropriate dose for the following experiments.



**Figure 4: Timeline for Experiment 1.** During habituation mice are allowed free access to both side of the apparatus. For conditioning mice are confined to one side of the apparatus following i.p. injection of saline (am) or morphine (pm). At test mice are allowed free access to both sides.
# 2.6 Experiment 2: Effect of mGlu5 deletion on 5 mg/kg morphine place preference

Based on the results from Experiment 1 a dose of 5 mg/kg morphine was selected to test in mGlu5 KO mice. Adult male and female experimentally naive mGlu5 KO mice and their WT-like littermates (male WT, n = 12; male mGlu5 KO, n = 11; female WT, n = 10; female mGlu5 KO, n = 7) were conditioned to associate a particular environment with morphine using the general CPP protocol described above. Mice were then repeatedly tested on a weekly basis during 4 weeks of abstinence with no drug treatment during this period (days 14, 21, 28 and 35; Figure 5). Both genotypes and sexes were assessed for differences in preference and locomotor activity during all habituation, conditioning and test sessions. One female mGlu5 KO mouse was defined as a statistical outlier (> 2 S.D from mean) and was therefore excluded (Jones 2019).



**Figure 5: Timeline Experiment 2.** During habituation mice are allowed free access to both side of the apparatus. For conditioning mice are confined to one side of the apparatus following i.p. injection of saline (am) or morphine (pm). At test mice are allowed free access to both sides. Following conditioning, mice had free access to both sides of the apparatus and were tested on a weekly basis during abstinence from morphine.

# 2.7 Experiment 3: Effect of mGlu5 deletion on 10 mg/kg morphine place preference

Following the results from Experiment 2, a second cohort of mGlu5 KO and WT-like mice were tested using 10 mg/kg morphine to test for genotypic differences in morphine sensitivity. Adult male and female experimentally naive mice (male WT, n = 14; male mGlu5 KO, n =12; female WT, n = 8; female mGlu5 KO, n = 9) were conditioned using the CPP protocol outlined above and then tested weekly during abstinence for 4 weeks (Figure 6). Preference and locomotor activity was assessed for differences in genotype and sex. One male mGlu5 KO mouse was defined as a statistical outlier (> 2 S.D. from mean) and was therefore excluded (Jones 2019).



**Figure 6: Timeline Experiment 3.** During habituation mice are allowed free access to both side of the apparatus. For conditioning mice are confined to one side of the apparatus following i.p. injection of saline (am) or morphine (pm). At test mice are allowed free access to both sides. Following conditioning, mice had free access to both sides of the apparatus and were tested on a weekly basis during abstinence from morphine.

# 2.7 Statistical analysis

Behavioural data were analysed using R (Version 4.0.3) (R Core Team 2020; RStudio Team 2019). Two-, three- and four-way repeated measures (RM) analysis of variance (ANOVA) with within factors 'days' (conditioning days), 'drug' (saline vs. morphine), 'zone' (left vs. Right; drug-paired vs. saline-paired), 'distance' (distance travelled in cm) or 'time' (5-min blocks), and between factors 'treatment group' (1 vs. 2 vs. 5 vs. 10 mg/kg), 'genotype' (WT-like vs. mGlu5 KO) or 'sex' (male vs. female) were conducted (Ameijeiras-Alonso, Crujeiras & Rodriguez-Casal 2021; Coppock 2019; Dag, Dolgan & Konar 2018; Fox & Weisberg 2019; Højsgaard & Halekoh 2020; Lenth 2020; Singmann et al. 2021; Wickham 2016, 2019; Wickham et al. 2020; Wickham & Hester 2020). Where a significant interaction was detected further one-way ANOVA was conducted and Bonferroni post-hoc tests were used to identify group differences at specific time points. Additionally, in Experiment 3, the variability of treatment groups was compared using Levene's Test, with follow up RM ANOVA on the residual and Bonferroni post hoc tests where appropriate. Variability analysis was also accompanied by Hartigan's dip-test for unimodality to check for subgroups (Maechler 2021). Data is presented as mean  $\pm$  standard error of the mean (SEM), and differences were regarded as statistically significant if p < 0.05. Post-hoc effects are presented in figures.

# **Chapter 3: Results**

# 3.1 Experiment 1: Morphine CPP Validation

# 3.1.1 Habituation

### There was no apparatus bias at habituation

Time spent in the left and right sides of the apparatus during habituation is shown in Figure 7A-D. There was no preference for either side [no significant effect of 'zone', F(1,44) = 2.82, p = .510]. This suggests there was no bias in the apparatus design, in any treatment group.



**Figure 7: Time spent in zones during habituation in C57BL/6J mice.** Time [s] spent in the left (white walls) and right (spots) zones of the apparatus during habituation in mice to be treated with morphine doses: (A) 1 mg/kg, (B) 2 mg/kg, (C) 5 mg/kg and (D) 10 mg/kg. Data presented as means ± SEM and analysed using three-way RM ANOVA.

Locomotor activity was also recorded at habituation. There were no to-be-treatment group differences in distance travelled at habituation [F(3,44) = 0.91, p = .444] (Figure 8). Locomotor activity decreased over the course of the test [main effect 'time', F(5,220) = 177.15, p < .001] as the novelty of the apparatus diminished. Together, this suggests that the locomotor activity of the treatment groups was balanced at habituation.



Figure 8: Distance travelled by C57BL/6J mice during habituation. Distance travelled [cm] during habituation session in mice to-be-treated with 1, 2, 5 and 10mg/kg morphine. Data presented as means  $\pm$  SEM and analysed using two-way RM ANOVA. A significant main effect of 'time' is indicated (<sup>\$\$\$\$</sup>p < 0.001).

# 3.1.2 Conditioning

### 5 and 10 mg/kg morphine induced hyperactivity in C57BL/6J mice

Locomotor sensitisation was measured via distance travelled under saline treatment and morphine treatment on the same day (Figure 9A-D). Morphine administration increased locomotor activity in a dose-dependent manner [main effect of 'treatment group', F(3, 44) =20.97, p < .001; 'drug', F(1, 44) = 54.73, p < .001; significant interaction 'treatment group' and 'drug', F(3, 44) = 29.89, p < .001]. Locomotor activity increased over morphine conditioning sessions, but not saline conditioning sessions [significant interaction 'drug' and 'days', F(3, 132) = 7.00, p < .001]. Two-way ANOVA split by 'treatment group' with Bonferroni correction was used to assess dose effects, and found an increase in distance travelled after administration of morphine compared to saline at 5 mg/kg [F(1,44) = 14.21, p < .001] and 10 mg/kg [F(1,44) = 130.07, p < .001] but not 1 mg/kg [F(1,44) = 0.14, p = .713] or 2 mg/kg [F(1,44) = 0.00, p = .994]. Furthermore, there was a significant interaction between 'drug' and 'day' for 5 mg/kg [F(3,132) = 2.87, p = .039] and 10 mg/kg [F(3,132) = 4.49, p = .003] but not 1 mg/kg [F(3,132) = 0.73, p = .537] or 2 mg/kg [F(3,132) = 0.68, p = .564]. Bonferroni post hoc tests found that distance travelled when administered morphine was significantly increased compared to saline on day 1, day 2, day 3 and day 4 for 5 and 10 mg/kg but not 1 and 2 mg/kg morphine. However, post hoc tests did not detect an increase in distance with repeated morphine treatment at any dose (Figure 9A-D). This suggests that 5 and 10 mg/kg morphine induces hyperactivity in C57BL/6J mice, but no morphine dose induced locomotor sensitisation.



Figure 9: Locomotor response of C57BL/6J to 1, 2, 5 or 10 mg/kg morphine. Locomotor response is measured as distance travelled [cm] over 4 consecutive days during saline and morphine conditioning to (A) 1 mg/kg morphine, (B) 2 mg/kg morphine, (C) 5 mg/kg morphine and (D) 10 mg/kg morphine. Data presented as means  $\pm$  SEM and analysed using three-way RM ANOVA, followed by Bonferroni post hoc tests where appropriate. Significant effects of 'drug' are indicated (\*p < 0.05; \*\*p < 0.01; \*\*\*p < 0.001).

# 3.1.3 Test

### 1, 2, and 5 mg/kg, but not 10 mg/kg, induced place preference in C57BL/6J mice

Place preference was assessed as a positive preference score (time in morphine-paired zone - time in saline-paired zone)(Figure 10). The habituation preference scores were negative due to the biased allocation of drug-paired side. Preference score increased in all treatment groups between habituation and test [main effect of 'day', F(1, 44) = 20.53, p < .001; but not 'treatment group', F(3, 44) = 0.62, p = .608]. There were no interactions. Figure 10 shows that 1, 2 and 5 mg/kg induced a positive preference score at test while 10 mg/kg showed a neutral preference score, suggesting that 10 mg/kg did not induce place preference. This interpretation is supported by an one-way ANOVA split by treatment group with a Bonferroni correction, which found a main effect of 'day' for 1 mg/kg [F(1,44) = 6.71, p = .013], 2 mg/kg [F(1,44) = 6.85, p = .012] and 5 mg/kg [F(1,44) = 5.97, p = .019] but not 10 mg/kg [F(1,44) = 1.99, p = .165]. This suggests that 1, 2 or 5 mg/kg were more rewarding than 10 mg/kg. This, together with the hyperlocomotion observed during conditioning, suggests that 5 mg/kg was the most appropriate dose to be tested in mGlu5 KO mice.



Figure 10: Preference for 1, 2, 5 or 10 mg/kg morphine in C57BL/6J mice. Preference score [s] in C57BL/6J mice following conditioning with 1, 2, 5 or 10 mg/kg morphine at Habituation and Test. Preference score is defined as (time spent in morphine-paired compartment - time spent in saline-paired compartment). Data presented as means  $\pm$  SEM and analysed using two-way RM ANOVA, followed by one-way ANOVA split by treatment group. Significant effects of 'day' are indicated (<sup>s</sup>p < 0.05).

# 3.2 Experiment 2: Effect of mGlu5 deletion on 5 mg/kg morphine place preference

### 3.2.1 Habituation

*mGlu5* KO mice displayed overall locomotor hyperactivity, but decreased exploration of apparatus at the beginning of the test

Figure 11A-D shows the time spent in the left and right sides of the apparatus at habituation. Four-way ANOVA of the variable 'time in zones' found no significant effect of 'zone' [F(1,36) = 0.09, p = .762; no interaction between 'genotype' and 'zone', F(1,36) = 0.09, p = .761], suggesting that total time spent in each side was equal (Table 4). However, time spent in each side changed over time and between genotypes and sexes [significant interaction 'genotype', 'sex', 'zone' and 'time', F(5,180) = 3.70, p = .006]. Post hoc tests with Bonferroni correction confirmed that there was a significant side preference during the first 5 min in male and female KO mice but not WT-like mice (*cf.* Figure 11B,D vs. Figure 11A,C). This preference corresponded with the side they were initially placed in, which suggest it was a respone to a novel environment. Importantly, mGlu5 KO mice returned to WT-like levels of exploration after the first 5 min of the test, indicating the effect of mGlu5 deletion on apparatus exploration was constrained to the first 5 min of the test.

 Table 4: Total time spent in zones during habituation in male and female WT-like and mGlu5 KO mice.

Genotype	Sex	Left Zone	Right Zone
WT-like	Male	128.13 +- 4.04	133.04 +- 4.00
mGlu5 KO	Male	127.46 +- 7.12	137.45 +- 8.74
WT-like	Female	128.64 +- 4.79	123.77 +- 4.62
mGlu5 KO	Female	140.64 +- 9.33	117.75 +- 8.89

Locomotor activity was recorded as distance travelled (cm) in Figure 12. Male and female mGlu5 KO mice were hyperactive compared to WT-like mice [main effect 'genotype', F(1,36) = 38.22, p < .001]. A significant interaction between 'genotype' and 'time' F(5,180) = 44.72, p < .001] shows that WT-like mice decreased locomotor activity while KO mice increased locomotor activity over the course of the test. There was a 'sex' and 'time' interaction [F(5,180) = 3.64, p = .016] and an interaction between 'genotype' and 'sex' which approached significance [F(1,37) = 4.11, p = .050]. Bonferroni post hoc tests suggest that there was a larger genotype difference in distance travelled in male mice than female mice.



**Figure 11: Time spent in zones during habituation in male and female WT-like and mGlu5 KO mice.** Time [s] spent in the left (white walls) and right (spots) zones of the apparatus during habituation in (A) male WT, (B) male mGlu5 KO, (C) female WT-like and (D) female mGlu5 KO mice. Data presented as means  $\pm$  SEM and analysed using four-way RM ANOVA, followed by Bonferroni post hoc tests where appropriate. Significant effects of 'zone' are indicated (^p < 0.01).

# 3.2.2 Conditioning

### mGlu5 deletion alters the locomotor response to 5 mg/kg morphine

Distance travelled during saline and morphine conditioning was used to assess locomotor sensitisation to morphine. mGlu5 KO mice were hyperactive compared to WT-like mice, regardless of sex [main effect of 'genotype', F(1,36) = 4.20, p = .048; no interactions with 'sex'], while female mice of both genotypes travelled further than male mice [main effect of 'sex', F(1,36) = 6.02, p = .019]. When averaged across days and genotypes, morphine increased locomotor activity compared to saline [main effect of 'drug', F(1,37) = 15.80, p < .001]. However, the overall increase in locomotion by morphine was driven by WT-like mice, as morphine actually reduced locomotor activity in male and female mGlu5 KO mice [significant interaction 'genotype' and 'drug' [F(1,36) = 32.41, p < .001] (Figure 13A-D). Three-way ANOVA split by



Figure 12: Distance travelled by male and female WT-like and mGlu5 KO mice during habituation. Distance travelled [cm] during habituation in (A) male mGlu5 KO and WT-like littermates and (B) female mGlu5 KO and WT-like littermates. Data presented as means  $\pm$  SEM and analysed using three-way RM ANOVA, followed by Bonferroni post hoc tests where appropriate. Significant effects of 'genotype' are indicated (\*\*p < 0.01; \*\*\*p < .001).

'genotype' with Bonferroni correction found a main effect of 'drug' in male and female WT-like mice [F(1,36) = 53.15, p < .001] but not male and female mGlu5 KO mice [F(1,36) = 1.32, p = .259]. There was an interaction between 'drug' and 'day' in mGlu5 KO mice [F(3,108) = 9.32, p < .001] but not WT-like mice [F(3,108) = 2.22, p = .089]. Bonferroni post hoc tests indicate no change to morphine-induced locomotion between day 1 and day 4 in male mice regardless of genotype, suggesting no morphine locomotor sensitisation. However, repeated administration



Figure 13: Locomotor response of WT-like and mGlu5 KO mice to repeated 5 mg/kg morphine. Locomotor response is measured as distance travelled [cm] over 4 consecutive days during saline and morphine conditioning to (A) male WT, (B) male mGlu5 KO, (C) female WT-like and (D) female mGlu5 KO mice. Data presented as means  $\pm$  SEM and analysed using four-way RM ANOVA, followed by Bonferroni post hoc tests. Significant post hoc effects of 'drug' are indicated (\*p < 0.05; \*\*p < 0.01). Significant post hoc effects of 'day are indicated (\*p < 0.05; \*\*p < 0.01).

of morphine increased locomotor activity from day 1 to day 4 in female mGlu5 KO mice, but not female WT-like mice. This suggests that mGlu5 deletion inhibits morphine-induced hyperlocomotion for 5 mg/kg morphine in male and female mice but promotes morphine sensitisation in female, but not male, mice.

# 3.2.3 Test

# Female, but not male mGlu5 KO mice show persistent morphine place preference during abstinence

Figure 14 shows that preference score increased from habituation in all treatment groups [main effect of 'day', F(5,180) = 12.79, p < .001; no significant effect of 'genotype', F(1,36) = 0.73, p = .399, or 'sex', F(1,36) = 0.19, p = .665]. However, a significant interaction between 'genotype' and 'sex' [F(1,36) = 4.22, p = .047] suggest that mGlu5 has a sex-specific effect on the acquisition and continued expression of morphine place preference. This was explored using post-hoc tests. Female mGlu5 KO mice showed a persistent preference for the drug-paired side during abstinence while female WT-like mice did not on most test days (Figure 14B), despite there being no difference at habituation. Post hoc tests indicate female mGlu5 KO mice preference score was higher than habituation at Test 1 and this persisted for all tests. In contrast female WT-like mice and did not show a persistent place preference during abstinence. In males, preference increased from habituation at Test 2 in both genotypes and Test 5 in mGlu5 KO mice only. This suggested that mGlu5 deletion did not affect the development of preference for 5 mg/ kg morphine in male mice.

Interestingly, preference for morphine was highest at test 2 for male and female WTlike and male mGlu5 KO mice but consistent across all tests in female mGlu5 KO mice. This suggested that mGlu5 deletion promotes morphine preference and persistence of morphineassociated memories in female mice. Time-course data from the test sessions was assessed to further explore the increase in preference observed from Test 1 to Test 2.



Figure 14: Preference following conditioning with 5 mg/kg morphine in male and female WT-like and mGlu5 KO mice. Preference score [s] is defined as (time spent in morphine-paired compartment). Data presented as means  $\pm$  SEM and analysed using three-way RM ANOVA, followed by Bonferroni post hoc tests. Significant effects of 'day' compared to habituation are indicated (p < 0.05; p < 0.001). Significant effects of 'genotype' are indicated (p < 0.05).

### 3.2.4 Test Time-course

*Female mGlu5 KO mice spent more time in the morphine-paired side and showed a conditioned locomotor response to 5 mg/kg morphine* 

Time-course data from Test 1 was analysed to further probe morphine preference immediately following conditioning. Time-course data for test 1 (Figure 15) shows female mice, but not male mice, had a preference for the morphine-paired side [no effect of 'zone', F(1,36) = 2.95, p = .095; significant interaction between 'sex' and 'zone', F(1,36) = 4.35, p =.044]. Three-way ANOVA split by 'sex' with Bonferroni correction found a 'zone' and 'time' interaction in male mice [F(5,180) = 9.75, p < .001] and female mice [F(5,180) = 3.72, p = .003]. There was also a significant interaction between 'genotype', 'zone' and 'time' in male [F(5,180)= 3.08, p = .011], but not female [F(5,180) = 0.59, p = .710], mice. Bonferroni post hocs show that male mGlu5 KO mice spent significantly more time in the saline-paired side during the first 5 min. As mice were placed in the saline-paired side at the start of the test this appears to reflect the genotype effect on initial exploration seen at habituation. Over time, as mGlu5 KO mice explored the apparatus further, they increased their time in the morphine-paired side.

Mice travelled further in the morphine-paired side [main effect 'zone', F(1,36) = 11.71, p = 002] (Figure 16) with female mice travelling further than male mice [main effect 'sex', F(1,36) = 7.72, p = .009; significant interaction between 'sex' and 'zone', F(1,36) = 4.51, p = .041] and mGlu5 KO mice were hyperactive in the morphine-paired side compared to WT-like mice [significant interaction between 'genotype', 'zone' and 'time', F(5,180) = 3.25, p = .017]. Further analysis with Bonferroni post hoc tests suggested that locomotor activity increased over time in the morphine-paired side but not the saline-paired side in female mGlu5 KO mice, but this did not occur in female WT-like mice. This suggests that female mGlu5 KO, but not WT, mice showed a conditioned locomotor response to 5 mg/kg morphine. Male WT-like and mGlu5 KO mice did not show this increased locomotor activity in the morphine-paired side compared to the saline-paired side, indicating they did not have a conditioned locomotor response to 5 mg/kg morphine.



Figure 15: Time spent in zones during Test 1 in male and female WT-like and mGlu5 KO mice. Time [s] spent in the morphine- and saline- paired zones during Test 1 in (A) male WT, (B) male mGlu5 KO, (C) female WT-like and (D) female mGlu5 KO mice. Data presented as means  $\pm$  SEM and analysed using four-way RM ANOVA, followed by Bonferroni post hoc tests. Significant effects of 'zone' are indicated (p < 0.05; p < 0.001).

During Test 2 male and female mGlu5 KO and WT-like mice spent more time in the morphine-paired zone [main effect 'zone', F(1,36) = 16.81, p < .001; no significant interactions] (Figure 17) and travelled further in the morphine-paired zone [main effect 'zone' F(1,36) = 13.94, p < .001] (Figure 20). mGlu5 KO mice travelled further than WT-like mice [main effect 'genotype', F(1,36) = 5.70, p = .022; significant interaction between 'genotype' and 'time, F(5,180) = 24.52, p < .001] (Figure 18). This supports the finding that morphine preference score was highest at Test 2.

Timecourse data from Tests 3, 4 and 5 showed no significant differences in the time spent and distance travelled between the morphine- and saline-paired sides (data included in Appendix A).



Figure 16: Distance travelled in zones by male and female WT-like and mGlu5 KO mice during Test 1. Distance travelled [cm] in the morphine- and saline- paired zones during Test 1 in (A) male mGlu5 KO and WT-like littermates and (B) female mGlu5 KO and WT-like littermates. Data presented as means  $\pm$  SEM and analysed using four-way RM ANOVA, followed by Bonferroni post hoc tests. Significant effects of 'zone' are indicated (p < 0.05;  $^{n}p < 0.01$ ;  $^{n}p < 0.001$ ).



Figure 17: Time spent in zones during Test 2 in male and female WT-like and mGlu5 KO mice. Time [s] spent in the morphine- and saline- paired zones during Test 2 in (A) male WT, (B) male mGlu5 KO, (C) female WT-like and (D) female mGlu5 KO mice. Data presented as means  $\pm$  SEM and analysed using four-way RM ANOVA, followed by Bonferroni post hoc tests. Significant effects of 'zone' are indicated (p < 0.05; p < 0.01).



Figure 18: Distance travelled in zones by male and female WT-like and mGlu5 KO mice during Test 2. Distance travelled [cm] in the morphine- and saline- paired zones during Test 2 in (A) male mGlu5 KO and WT-like littermates and (B) female mGlu5 KO and WT-like littermates. Data presented as means  $\pm$  SEM and analysed using four-way RM ANOVA, followed by Bonferroni post hoc tests. Significant effects of 'zone' are indicated (p < 0.05;  $^{n}p < 0.01$ ).

### 3.3 Experiment 3: Effect of mGlu5 deletion on 10 mg/kg morphine place preference

### 3.3.1 Habituation

Male, but not female, mGlu5 KO mice showed decreased initial exploration of the apparatus

There was no overall side preference at habituation as seen in Figure 19 [no main effect 'zone', F(1,36) = 0.05, p = .833; no interaction between 'genotype' and 'zone', F(1,36) = 0.01, p = .982]. There was a significant interaction between 'genotype', 'zone' and 'time' [F(5,180) = 3.83, p = .009] suggesting that side preference changed over the course of habituation differently between genotypes. Bonferroni post hoc tests indicate that male mGlu5 KO mice had a side preference for the right chamber during the first 5 min of the test and there was a trend for preference for the left chamber at 15 min. The side preference in the initial 5 minutes corresponded with the side they were initially placed, similar to mGlu5 KO mice of both sexes in Experiment 2. There was no effect of genotype on side preference in female mice.



Figure 19: Time spent in zones during habituation in male and female WT-like and mGlu5 KO mice. Time [s] spent in the left (white walls) and right (spots) zones of the apparatus during habituation in (A) male WT, (B) male mGlu5 KO, (C) female WT-like and (D) female mGlu5 KO mice. Data presented as means  $\pm$  SEM and analysed using four-way RM ANOVA, followed by Bonferroni post hoc tests. Significant effects of 'zone' are indicated (p < 0.05; p < 0.001).

As shown in Figure 20 male and female mGlu5 KO mice were hyperactive compared to WT-like mice [main effect 'genotype', F(1,36) = 39.26, p < .001]. Female mice of both genotypes travelled further than male mice [main effect 'sex', F(1,36) = 13.95, p < .001; no interaction 'genotype' and 'sex', F(1,36) = 2.41, p = .130]. There was an interaction between 'genotype' and 'time' [F(5,180) = 60.03, p < .001] indicating that locomotor activity decreased in WT-like mice but increased in mGlu5 KO mice across the test. Bonferroni post hoc tests show that male mGlu5 KO mice had a very low locomotor activity in the first 5 min of habituation which corresponds with the initial side preference seen above.



Figure 20: Distance travelled by male and female WT-like and mGlu5 mice during habituation. Distance travelled [cm] during habituation in (A) male mGlu5 KO and WT-like littermates and (B) female mGlu5 KO and WT-like littermates. Data presented as means  $\pm$  SEM and analysed using three-way RM ANOVA, followed by Bonferroni post hoc tests. Significant effects of 'genotype' are indicated (\*\*p < 0.01; \*\*\*p < .001).

# 3.3.2 Conditioning

### 10 mg/kg morphine induced locomotor hyperactivity in mGlu5 KO mice

Figure 21 shows total distance travelled by male and female mGlu5 KO mice and their WT-like littermates when conditioned with saline and 10 mg/kg morphine over 4 days. Morphine increased locomotor activity [main effect 'drug', F(1,37) = 73.06, p < .001] regardless of sex or genotype, though the effect of morphine was more pronounced in female mice than male mice [significant interaction between 'sex' and 'drug', F(1,36) = 12.01, p = .001]. Locomotor activity during morphine conditioning increased over days [significant interaction between 'drug' and 'day', F(3,108) = 40.66, p < .001], suggesting there was locomotor sensitisation to 10 mg/kg morphine [no effect 'genotype', F(1,36) = 0.14, p = .715; no interactions with 'genotype']. However, there was significant interaction between 'sex', 'drug' and 'day' [F(3,108) = 3.06, p = .035], suggesting that female mice were more susceptible to locomotor sensitisation. Bonferroni post hoc tests show that female WT-like and mGlu5 KO mice both sensitised to 10 mg/kg morphine.

### 3.3.3 Tests

*Female, but not male, mGlu5 KO mice had an increased variability in preference score to 10 mg/kg morphine that persisted through abstinence* 

Preference score for 10 mg/kg morphine (Figure 22) increased from habituation across all test days [main effect 'day', F(5,180) = 4.8235, p = .002] mainly driven by the male data (*cf.* Figure 22A vs. Figure 22B). This was consistent across both genotypes and sexes [no effect 'genotype', F(1,36) = 0.87, p = .356; no effect 'sex', F(1,36) = 0.003, p = .957; no interactions involving 'genotype' or 'sex']. This suggests that 10 mg/kg morphine increased preference in male and female mGlu5 KO and WT-like mice.

It should be noted that there was a large variability in preference score during abstinence for 10 m/kg (Figure 22) that was not seen for 5 mg/kg. A small number of mice (n=3) appeared to have an aversion to the morphine-paired side and so additional analysis was performed to investigate this further. Levene's test confirms that there were significant differences in variability



Figure 21: Locomotor response of male and female WT-like and mGlu5 KO mice to 10 mg/kg morphine. Locomotor response is measured as distance travelled [cm] over 4 consecutive days during saline and morphine conditioning to (A) male WT, (B) male mGlu5 KO, (C) female WT-like and (D) female mGlu5 KO mice. Data presented as means  $\pm$  SEM and analysed using four-way RM ANOVA, followed by Bonferroni post hoc tests where appropriate. Significant effects of 'drug' are indicated (p < 0.05; p < 0.01; p < 0.001). Significant effects of 'day' are indicated (p < 0.05; p < 0.01; p < 0.001). Significant effects of 'sex' are indicated (p < 0.05; p < 0.01; p < 0.001).



Figure 22: Preference following conditioning with 10 or mg/kg morphine in male and female WT-like and mGlu5 KO mice. Preference score [n] is defined as (time spent in morphine-paired compartment - time spent in saline-paired compartment). Data presented as means  $\pm$  SEM and analysed using three-way RM ANOVA.

between groups [F(23,215) = 4.35, p < .001]. Three-way ANOVA of the residuals (Figure 23) found that mGlu5 KO mice had an increased variability compared to WT-like mice [main effect 'genotype', F(1,36) = 18.91, p < .001] and variability increased following conditioning [main effect 'day', F(5,180) = 6.9, p < .001; significant interaction between 'genotype' and 'day', F(5,180) = 3.38, p = .012]. Two-way ANOVA split by 'genotype' showed that mGlu5 KO but not WT-like mice showed a significant interaction between 'sex' and 'day' [F(5,180) = 2.28, p = .048]. Bonferroni post hoc tests indicate that female mGlu5 KO mice had significantly more variability than habituation at Test 2, Test 3, Test 4 and Test 5, but not Test 1. Male mGlu5 KO mice tended to have increased variability in test 5 only. It also suggests that the effects of 10 mg/ kg morphine, whether rewarding or aversive, persist during abstinence in female, but not male,



Figure 23: Residuals following conditioning with 10 or mg/kg morphine in male and female WT-like and mGlu5 KO mice. Residuals are calculated as (median preference score - individual preference score). Data presented as means  $\pm$  SEM and analysed using three-way RM ANOVA, followed by Bonferroni post hoc tests where appropriate. Significant effects of 'day' are indicated (p < 0.05; p < 0.001).

mGlu5 KO mice. Shapiro-Wilk normality test was used to test for multimodality to determine if there were any subgroups but no subgroups were found [p = .182].

# 3.3.4 Test Time-course

# mGlu5 KO mice showed behavioural conditioning to 10 mg/kg morphine

The time course data from test 1 (Figure 24) shows that there was no overall preference for the morphine-paired side [no effect 'zone', F(1,36) = 1.03, p = .317] but preference changed over the course of the test [significant interaction between 'zone' and 'time', F(5,180) = 8.64, p < .001]. Bonferroni post hoc tests suggested that this was due to an initial preference for the saline-paired zone during the first 5 min in mGlu5 KO mice, which was the side mice were initially placed in in the Test.

In contrast, distance travelled was higher in the morphine-paired side compared to the saline-paired side, and this became more pronounced as the test progressed [main effect 'zone',



Figure 24: Time spent in zones during Test 1 in male and female WT-like and mGlu5 KO mice. Time [s] spent in the morphine- and saline- paired zones during Test 1 in (A) male WT, (B) male mGlu5 KO, (C) female WT-like and (D) female mGlu5 KO mice. Data presented as means  $\pm$  SEM and analysed using four-way RM ANOVA, followed by Bonferroni post hoc tests. Significant effects of 'zone' are indicated (p < 0.05; mp < 0.001).



Figure 25: Distance travelled in zones by male and female WT-like and mGlu5 KO mice during Test 1. Distance travelled [cm] in the morphine- and saline- paired zones during Test 1 in (A) male WT-like and mGlu5 KO littermates and (B) female WT-like and mGlu5 KO littermates. Data presented as means  $\pm$  SEM and analysed using four-way RM ANOVA, followed by Bonferroni post hoc tests. Significant effects of 'zone' are indicated (p < 0.05;  $^{n}p < 0.01$ ).

F(1,36) = 15.48, p < .001; significant interaction 'zone' and 'time', F(5,180) = 6.81, p < .001] (Figure 25). mGlu5 KO mice showed hyperlocomotion compared to WT-like mice [main effect 'genotype', F(1,36) = 5.75, p = .022].

The test 2 time course data (Figure 26) shows that there was an overall preference for the morphine-paired side [main effect 'zone', F(1,36) = 6.24, p = .017]. This corresponds with the peak in preference score seen at Test 2 (Figure 24).

Figure 27 shows that mice travelled further in the morphine-paired side compared to the saline-paired side at test 2 [main effect 'zone', F(1,36) = 8.92, p = .005]. Male mGlu5 KO mice were hyperactive compared to male WT-like mice, while female WT-like mice were more active than female mGlu5 KO mice [significant interaction between 'genotype' and 'time',



Figure 26: Time spent in zones during Test 2 in male and female WT-like and mGlu5 mice. Time [s] spent in the morphine- and saline- paired zones during Test 2 in (A) male WT, (B) male mGlu5 KO, (C) female WT-like and (D) female mGlu5 KO mice. Data presented as means  $\pm$  SEM and analysed using four-way RM ANOVA.

F(5,180) = 35.84, p < .001; significant interaction between 'genotype' and 'sex', F(1,36) = 8.95, p = .005; significant interaction between 'sex' and 'time', F(5,180) = 6.04, p < .001]. Three-way ANOVA split by 'sex' with Bonferroni correction show there was a significant interaction between 'zone' and 'time' in male [F(5,180) = 2.933, p = .014], but not female [F(5,180) = 1.10, p = .362], mice. This suggests that male mice increased distance travelled in the drug-paired side than the saline-paired side over the test while female mice locomotor activity changed consistently in both zones.

There were no significant effects of 'zone' for time or distance in Tests 3, 4 or 5 (data included in Appendix B).



Figure 27: Distance travelled in zones by male and female WT-like and mGlu5 mice during Test 2. Distance travelled [cm] in the morphine- and saline- paired zones during Test 2 in (A) male WT-like and mGlu5 KO littermates and (B) female WT-like and mGlu5 KO littermates. Data presented as means  $\pm$  SEM and analysed using four-way RM ANOVA, followed by Bonferroni post hoc tests. Significant effects of 'zone' are indicated (p < 0.05; p < 0.01).

# **Chapter 4: Discussion**

# 4.1 Summary of results

This is the first study of the effect of mGlu5 germline deletion on the expression of morphine reward and morphine-induced locomotion in male and female mice. Significant effects of genotype, sex and morphine dose were found. The acquisition of morphine place preference was unaffected by mGlu5 deletion. However, there was a significant effect of dose on the acquisition of morphine memory, as 5 mg/kg induced a higher preference score in male and female mice regardless of genotype. Genotype and sex also impacted on persistence of morphine reward memory, as female mGlu5 KO mice showed a persistent preference for 5 mg/kg morphine during abstinence compared to female WT-like mice. There was significant variability in preference for 10 mg/kg morphine in female mGlu5 KO mice that likewise persisted during abstinence and was not observed in female WT-like mice. Male mGlu5 KO mice had a similar reward response to male WT-like mice to 5 and 10 mg/kg morphine, indicating sexspecific effects of mGlu5 deletion on morphine reward. Overall, 5 mg/kg morphine was more rewarding for female mice than male mice, while 10 mg/kg morphine was similarly rewarding in male and female mice.

In addition to the effects of genotype and sex on reward, a significant effect of genotype was found on morphine-induced locomotion. Deletion of mGlu5 reduces the acute locomotor response to 5 mg/kg morphine administration in male and female mice. Despite this female mGlu5 KO mice expressed locomotor sensitisation to 5 mg/kg morphine. However, 10 mg/ kg morphine increased locomotor activity in male and female mGlu5 KO and WT-like mice. Further, female WT, female mGlu5 KO mice and male WT, but not male mGlu5 KO mice expressed locomotor sensitisation to 5 and 10 mg/kg morphine. Thus, these results suggest that mGlu5 plays a key role in opioid reward and memory processes, and these findings are dependent on sex.

# 4.2 Genotype and sex effects on morphine reward

A key feature of addiction pathology is the cycle of abstinence and relapse to drug use. Finding treatment targets that promote abstinence is an important step to developing effective treatments for opioid addiction. Exposure to environmental cues associated with drug-taking can increase drug-craving and risk of relapse (Myers & Carlezon 2010). Therefore measuring the persistence of the memory of these cues in abstinence provides insight into their potential impact on the risk of relapse. CPP is an effective method of assessing the effect of environmental cues morphine memory as these environmental cues are an effect of Pavlovian conditioning that can drive drug-seeking, similar to that seen in CPP. Reducing the effect of these cues is achieved by extinction which is, importantly, not a process of forgetting the conditioned response. Extinction is another learning process that requires repeated exposure to the conditioned stimulus in the absence of the unconditioned stimulus (Myers & Carlezon 2010). However, often extinction training does not occur clinically, and drug-seeking behaviour occurs following a period of abstinence. Here we modelled the effects of abstinence seen in clinical settings with weekly testing during abstinence to observe the persistence of morphine preference under a pattern of intermittent testing. Previously, spontaneous loss of morphine CPP, where morphine-preference reduces without exposure to the conditioned stimulus, has been reported within 5-7 days in rats (Wang et al. 2000). However, other studies have shown morphine CPP is resistant to extinction when undertaken on an intermittent schedule of testing every 2-6 weeks (Mueller, Perdikaris & Stewart 2002; Sakoori & Murphy 2005) with morphine CPP persisting up to twelve weeks (Mueller, Perdikaris & Stewart 2002). In the current study, this persistence was only observed in female mGlu5 KO mice at 5 mg/kg morphine. There are various protocol differences that may explain the different findings here, such as species differences (Mueller, Perdikaris & Stewart 2002; Sakoori & Murphy 2005), the time between conditioning and initial test of preference (Sakoori & Murphy 2005; Wang et al. 2000) and the testing schedule. Mueller et al did not find any differences in preference due to testing every 2 or 6 weeks for a total of 12 weeks but Sakoori et al noted that mice initially tested after 6 days abstinence tended to increase preference when tested again after 28 days abstinence compared to mice initially tested the day following conditioning which may be related to the increased preference score seen from Test

1 to Test 2 (discussed below). Therefore, longer gaps in the intermittent testing schedule may be reinforcing because they permit spontaneous recovery and a weekly testing schedule may be frequent enough to encourage extinction learning (Chesworth & Corbit 2017; Conklin & Tiffany 2002).

Previously, mGlu5 antagonism with systemic MPEP has been shown to impair extinction learning when there are no changes to the conditioned context but has no effect when there is a change to the context (Andre, Gunturkun & Manahan-Vaughan 2015). However, MPEP administration during conditioning has no effect on passive extinction of morphine CPP in male rats, which is when animals are given free access to the entire apparatus in the absence of the drug (van der Kam, E. L., De Vry & Tzschentke 2009a). The passive extinction used by van der Kam et al is similar to the methods used in this thesis, however, this current study had a longer interval between extinction sessions (weekly as opposed to daily). Importantly, MPEP was not administered during extinction training (van der Kam, E. L., De Vry & Tzschentke 2009a) and the lack of effect on extinction may be due to the state-dependent effect that MPEP has on learning. This interpretation is supported by the finding that MTEP attenuated selfadministration following 3 weeks of abstinence in mice when MTEP was administered prior to extinction training (Brown, Stagnitti, et al. 2012). In this thesis, mGlu5 deletion did not affect extinction learning in male mice which suggests that the impact of mGlu5 antagonism is due to pharmacological effects. However, these previous studies have been conducted in male mice and this thesis was the first investigation of mGlu5 modulation of extinction learning in both male and female mice. As female mGlu5 KO mice had a persistent preference for morphine while female WT-like mice extinguished morphine preference by Test 3, mGlu5 deletion appears to impede extinction learning of morphine reward in female mice. This suggests that mGlu5 modulates extinction learning, at least on an intermittent schedule, in a sex-dependent manner.

An unexpected finding was the increase in preference score between Test 1 and Test 2 in male mGlu5 KO and WT-like and female WT-like but not female mGlu5 KO mice. Supporting our findings of an increase in preference after initial preference testing, it was found that mice tended to increase preference for 4 mg/kg morphine 28 days following conditioning when they

were initially tested 6 days, but not 1 day, post-conditioning (Sakoori & Murphy 2005). This thesis reports the first finding of an increase in morphine preference following a 7-day period of abstinence. The peak in preference at Test 2 is potentially due to an incubation of drug-craving, where increasing time in abstinence of a drug increases the strength of cue-induced drug seeking following abstinence from the drug (Pickens et al. 2011). The timing of this increase following 1 week of abstinence is similar to an increase in self-administration lever pressing when extinction training commenced after 6 days of abstinence, compared to 1-66 days, seen in rats (Shalev et al. 2001). That female mGlu5 KO mice were the only group that did not show this increase in preference could suggest that mGlu5 modulates the incubation of drug-craving in female but not male mice. This may be due to oestradiol-mediated DA release discussed below. Another explanation for the increase in preference may be due to morphine-withdrawal induced anxiety- and depression-like symptoms (Zanos et al. 2016). Abstinence from morphine has been associated with an increase in anxiety and depressive symptoms in mice (Zanos et al. 2016). These emotional negative effects as a response to morphine abstinence can persist for up to 4 weeks, long after the cessation of morphine withdrawal (Zanos et al. 2016) and morphineconditioned environments can temporarily reduce withdrawal symptoms in rats (Numan et al. 1976). However, the protocol used to induce spontaneous withdrawal in C57BL/6J mice involves an escalating schedule of much higher doses (up to 100 mg/kg morphine vs 10 mg/ kg morphine used here), twice daily administration as opposed to the once daily administration here as well as a longer period of treatment of 6 days (Papaleo & Contarino 2006; Zanos et al. 2016). The protocol used in this thesis is unlikely to induce spontaneous withdrawal as the dose is low and the length of treatment is short. Further, the lack of genotypic differences in males suggests that this increase in preference was not a symptom of severe negative effect.

This thesis also found sex-differences in mGlu5 modulation of sensitivity to morphine reward. Female mGlu5 KO mice had the highest initial preference for 5 mg/kg morphine which suggests they may be more predisposed to the rewarding effects of morphine. However, they had a lower preference for 10 mg/kg morphine. Previously, mGlu5 has been shown to regulate sensitivity to opioid reward, as the mGlu5 antagonist MPEP reduces the rewarding dose of heroin in male rats (Rutten, Van Der Kam, De Vry, Bruckmann, et al. 2011; van der Kam,

E. L., De Vry & Tzschentke 2009a), and mGlu5 deletion in male mice has been shown to increase sensitivity to ethanol (Bird et al. 2008). However, 5 mg/kg morphine also induced CPP in WT-like mice which suggests that this dose is not low enough to say if mGlu5 deletion potentiated morphine reward. Further testing using very low doses of morphine in mGlu5 KO mice would be required to establish if mGlu5 deletion regulated morphine sensitivity; however, the present results do support previous findings that MPEP and MTEP do not affect preference for morphine doses that were sufficient to induce place preference in the absence of mGlu5 antagonism in males (van der Kam, E. L., De Vry & Tzschentke 2009a).

This was the first study to investigate sex-differences in mGlu5 modulation of opioid reward which is an important consideration due to well established sex-differences in sensitivity to opioid reward (Cicero, Aylward & Meyer 2003; Cicero et al. 2000; Karami & Zarrindast 2008) and mGlu5 KO mice display sex-specific differences (Joo et al. 2020). For example, morphine has been shown to be rewarding at higher doses in female rats than males (Cicero et al. 2000) and female rats have a greater magnitude of preference for morphine than males (Karami & Zarrindast 2008). While male rats displayed an inverse U-shaped dose response curve there was no upper limit to doses of heroin (up to 30 mg/kg) that would produce CPP in females (Cicero, Aylward & Meyer 2003). Female rats also consumed more and worked harder to obtain morphine in a self-administration model (Cicero, Aylward & Meyer 2003). It has been suggested that male mice are more susceptible to the negative effects of morphine (Cicero et al. 2000), and while the current study found no sex differences between male and female WT-like mice for 10 mg/kg, it may be possible that sex-differences are evident at higher morphine doses. The increased variability during abstinence seen in the female mGlu5 KO mice for 10 mg/kg suggests that mGlu5 deletion may modulate sensitivity to the negative effects of morphine in female mice. This variability was a result of a small number mice with very low preference scores (n = 3) and it is possible that 10 mg/kg morphine can be either rewarding or aversive in female mGlu5 KO mice, and this is the source of variability in this genotype. The female sex hormone oestradiol has previously been implicated sensitivity to morphine reward. In female mice, ovariectomisation attenuated acquisition of morphine CPP to low doses of morphine and this was reversed by administration of oestradiol benzoate (Mirbaha et al.

2009). Additionally, overectomisation enhanced morphine preference for 10 mg/kg compared to intact females (Mirbaha et al. 2009). While the effects of estradiol on morphine sensitivity are primarily believed to be due to its action on the mesolimbic DA system (Kokane & Perrotti 2020) mGlu5 may help modulate this action in a similar manner to oestradial-mediated DA release in response to amphetamines (Song et al. 2019).

### 4.3 Genotype and sex effects on morphine locomotion and sensitisation

A significant genotype-dose interaction for the acute administration of morphine suggests that mGlu5 modulates sensitivity to morphine-induced locomotor activity. We observed dosedependent effects of morphine on locomotor activity in both genotypes and sexes, consistent with well-established effects of morphine on rodent locomotion (Heidari et al. 2006; Koek 2014, 2016; Koek, France & Javors 2012; Loggi et al. 1991; Patti et al. 2005; Saito 1990). The findings in Experiment 1 where 5 and 10 mg/kg, but not 1 and 2 mg/kg, of morphine increased locomotor activity in male C57BL/6J mice, and the results in Experiments 2 and 3 where 5 and 10 mg/kg morphine increased locomotor activity in male and female WT-like mice are consistent with the literature (Heidari et al. 2006; Koek 2014, 2016; Koek, France & Javors 2012; Loggi et al. 1991; Patti et al. 2005; Saito 1990). In contrast, the finding that acute administration of 5 mg/kg morphine induced hypolocomotion in male and female mGlu5 KO mice while 10 mg/ kg morphine induced hyperlocomotion in male and female mGlu5 KO mice indicates a dosegenotype interaction. Previous studies have shown that morphine-induced hypolocomotion is biphasic, with low doses of morphine associated with a decrease in locomotor activity while high doses are associated with an increase in locomotor activity (Patti et al. 2005; Saito 1990). The present findings suggest that mGlu5 may modulate sensitivity to morphine-induced locomotor activity. This is in contrast to previous pharmacological studies that have shown that mGlu5 antagonists MPEP and MTEP did not affect morphine- and heroin-induced hyperlocomotion in rats (Herzig & Schmidt 2004; van der Kam, E. L., De Vry & Tzschentke 2009a; Veeneman et al. 2011) and mice (Kotlinska & Bochenski 2007). Considering the impact of mGlu5 deletion on morphine-induced locomotion in the present thesis, it is possible that the doses of MPEP and MTEP used in these pharmacological studies were not sufficient to affect morphine-induced locomotion (Kotlinska & Bochenski 2007). Additionally, although systemic mGlu5 antagonism promotes hyperlocomotion, selective blockage in the ventral striatum is associated with hypolocomotion (Guimaraes et al. 2015). As morphine-induced hyperlocomotion is associated with increased DA release in the ventral striatum (Murphy, Lam & Maidment 2001) the present data suggests that mGlu5 deletion may modulate morphine-mediated dopamine activity in the ventral striatum where mGlu5 is strongly expressed.

mGlu5 deletion had a sex-dependent effect on the expression of morphine-induced locomotor sensitisation. Locomotor sensitisation occurs when locomotor activity increases following repeated administration of same dose of a drug. Female mGlu5 KO mice sensitised to both 5 and 10 mg/kg morphine while female WT-like mice only sensitised to 10 mg/kg morphine, indicating mGlu5 deletion potentiates morphine sensitisation. However, as male mGlu5 KO and WT-like mice showed sensitisation to 10 mg/kg morphine but not 5 mg/kg morphine, the potentiation of morphine sensitisation appears to be sex-dependent. A previous study showed that the mGlu5 antagonist MTEP did not affect the development morphine sensitisation in rats when 1 mg/kg MTEP was administered 30 min before 3 mg/kg morphine conditioning (Veeneman et al. 2011). Additionally, there was no effect of prior MTEP on the expression of morphine sensitisation when rats were challenged with morphine 3 weeks later. However, 10 mg/kg, but not 5 mg/kg, MTEP inhibited the expression of 10 mg/kg morphine locomotor sensitisation in mice (Kotlinska & Bochenski 2007) so the lack of effect seen in Veenemen et al could be due to the MTEP dose being insufficient to affect locomotor sensitisation. As mGlu5 deletion did not prevent the acquisition of locomotor sensitisation in this study, this suggests that the effect of MTEP on locomotor sensitisation may be due to inducing locomotor sensitisation on its own (Herzig & Schmidt 2004; Kotlinska & Bochenski 2007) or via an off target effect, potentially due to a low affinity to the NMDA receptor (Guimaraes et al. 2015), as NMDA antagonism blocks the acquisition of morphine-induced locomotor sensitisation (Wolf & Jeziorski 1993).

mGlu5 deletion appears to increase susceptibility for morphine sensitisation in female mice. Powel and Holtzman (Powell & Holtzman 2001) have suggested that there is a narrow range of morphine doses that induce locomotor sensitisation, due to a biphasic sensitisation response to morphine that peaked at 3 mg/kg (1-10 mg/kg morphine tested) in rats. There are differences between mouse and rat metabolism of morphine (Way & Adler 1962) and therefore, there may be a different dose-response curve in mice. However, these results indicate that mGlu5 deletion may extend the range of morphine doses that induce locomotor sensitisation in female mice. Female mice are more sensitive to the locomotor effects of morphine (Craft et al. 2006) and oxycodone (Collins et al. 2016). While this could be attributed to sex differences in striatal dopamine release (Arvidsson et al. 2014; Laakso et al. 2002; Riccardi et al. 2011), estradiol has been shown to increase cocaine locomotor sensitisation (Martinez et al. 2014). Opioids and psychostimulants like cocaine have different mechanisms of action, but the receptors and pathways involved in locomotor sensitisation are similar and there is evidence that crosssensitisation is common (Valjent et al. 2010). The increased sensitisation in female mGlu5 KO mice indicated that mGlu5 is a potential point of divergence in these pathways as oestradiolmediated facilitation of cocaine locomotor sensitisation requires mGlu5 activation (Martinez et al. 2014) while in this study mGlu5 deletion potentiated morphine locomotor sensitisation. This suggests that mGlu5 activity may have attenuated the oestradiol-associated increases to morphine locomotor sensitisation.

### 4.4 No genotype effect on the acquisition of morphine CPP

Data on acquisition of morphine CPP suggested that mGlu5 is not necessary for the expression of morphine reward. This contrasts with previous pharmacological findings where MPEP and MTEP dose-dependently attenuate the acquisition of morphine and heroin self-administration, morphine and heroin CPP in rats and mice (Aoki et al. 2004; Brown, Stagnitti, et al. 2012; Popik 2002; van der Kam, Elizabeth L., De Vry & Tzschentke 2007; Veeneman et al. 2011). The contrary finding here suggests that pharmacological studies are not sufficient to understand the effect of a receptor on drug-relevant pathology and behaviour as adaptive changes in the mGlu5 KO gremline also have to be considered. A potential explanation for the null effect of mGlu5 deletion on morphine CPP include such adaptive changes. The attenuation of morphine CPP by localised administration of MPEP was associated with an attenuation of morphine-mediated upregulation of PKC- $\gamma$  (Aoki et al. 2004) which has been shown to be necessary for the expression of morphine reward. An increase in expression of PKC- $\beta$  proteins
in the hippocampus has been observed in mGlu5 KO mice (Gonzalez-Lozano et al. 2021) which suggests a potential change in PKC activity in mGlu5 KO mice to compensate for the lack of mGlu5 signalling. mGlu5 KO mice do not show the pilocarpine-induced expression of PKC- $\beta$  and PKC- $\gamma$  in pyramidal neurons in the hippocampus (Liu et al. 2008). Together, this suggests that mGlu5 KO mice may have an altered drug-induced expression of PKC- $\beta$  and PKC- $\gamma$ . Additionally, Go6976, a specific PKC- $\alpha$  and PKC- $\beta$  inhibitor, HBDDE and PKC- $\alpha$  and PKC- $\gamma$  inhibitor, facilitated morphine-induced MOR internalisation (Ueda, Inoue & Matsumoto 2001) suggesting there is a potential PKC- $\beta$  and PKC- $\gamma$  interaction in the development of morphine tolerance. This indicates that changes in PKC isoform expression may explain the lack of genotype on the acquisition of morphine CPP. Further investigation is required to see if mGlu5 KO mice also have an increase in the expression of PKC isoforms following morphine administration.

## 4.5 Methodological considerations

There was a strong bias for the compartment that mGlu5 KO mice were initially placed in at habituation. The apparent bias at habituation could have an impact on the interpretation of our findings. It should be noted that this apparatus has previously been used with no side preference in C57BL/6J mice (Chesworth & Karl 2020; Chesworth et al. 2021). Additionally, WT-like mice did not show a side bias at habituation, indicating this is a confound with the mGlu5 KO mice rather than the apparatus. There was a strong correlation between the initial compartment preference and distance travelled during the first 5 min of habituation, which suggests that this initial preference was due to low exploration during the first 5 min. It is important to note that there was no side bias during the remainder of the habituation sessions when locomotor activity was higher so this initial preference appears to be a consequence of hypolocomotion as a response to a novel envrionment. Further analysis of the first saline and morphine conditioning sessions showed no initial hypolocomotion (data not shown). However, this did lead to low preference scores at habituation in the mGlu5 KO male and female mice for 5 mg/kg and male mGlu5 KO mice for 10 mg/kg morphine. Therefore, there is a possibility that an increase in preference score may have been due to morphine overcoming the animals' natural aversion to the environment rather than a measurement of the rewarding effects of morphine, or these two things may both be occurring. While habituation side bias can determine whether ethanol CPP is acquired as animals paired with the preferred side do not acquire CPP with those paired with the non-preferred side do acquire CPP (Cunningham, Ferree & Howard 2003; Cunningham, Gremel & Groblewski 2006) it has been established that the magnitude of preference following morphine conditioning is unaffected by a biased or completely randomised side allocation in rats (Blander et al. 1984). This suggests that initial side preference may not have significantly impacted the acquisition of place preference. The successful acquisition of morphine CPP in both male and female mGlu5 KO mice despite different initially preferred sides supports this proposition. Therefore, the bias at habituation is a product of the mGlu5 KO mice but has not prevented the acquisition and expression of morphine CPP.

## 4.6 Limitations

The current study was limited to looking at the effect of mGlu5 deletion on morphine locomotion, CPP and the persistence of preference during abstinence. While CPP is effective at measuring the effect of environmental cues on drug-seeking behaviour it involves the external administration of the drug under a form of Pavlovian conditioning, which does not reflect all of the varied and complex processes involved in addiction pathology. A self-administration model would be required to more fully assess the role of mGlu5 in morphine addiction-like behaviour, because an operant model can evaluate a wider degree of addiction-relevant behaviour including drug reinforcement, motivation for drug-seeking, extinction behaviour and relapse-like behaviour. Such a model was not included in this thesis due to the significant time required to implement, e.g. it would have taken 2-3 months to test a single cohort and would require a minimum of 2 cohorts to test both sexes and reach sufficient statistical power. The findings of this thesis nonetheless are a foundation for future investigation of the sex effects of mGlu5 on morphine addiction-relevant behaviour self.

## 4.7 Conclusion

This thesis shows that mGlu5 modulates morphine addiction-relevant behaviour in a sexdependent manner. This emphasises the importance of testing for sex-differences in addiction research in general and opioid addiction in particular. The potentiation of morphine reward and the persistence of morphine memory seen in female mGlu5 KO mice suggest that this receptor plays a significant role in sex differences in susceptibility to opioid addiction. mGlu5 also mediates sensitivity to morphine-induced hyperlocomotion and locomotor sensitivity. This thesis emphasises the role of mGlu5 in the strength of morphine-associated contextual cues that could increase the risk of relapse and supports the further investigation of this receptor as a target for the development of opioid addiction therapies. Potential areas to follow from this study include the effects of mGlu5 deletion on the state-dependent effect of morphine learning, by comparing Test data in the presence and absence of morphine, and the acquisition and persistence of morphine self-administration.

## References

Ahmadi, S, Rafieenia, F & Rostamzadeh, J 2016, 'Morphine-Induced Analgesic Tolerance Effect on Gene Expression of the NMDA Receptor Subunit 1 in Rat Striatum and Prefrontal Cortex', *Basic Clin Neurosci*, vol. 7, no. 3, pp. 241-8.

Ameijeiras-Alonso, J, Crujeiras, RM & Rodriguez-Casal, A 2021, *multimode: An R Package for Mode Assessment*, 9, 1548-7660.

Andre, MA, Gunturkun, O & Manahan-Vaughan, D 2015, 'The metabotropic glutamate receptor, mGlu5, is required for extinction learning that occurs in the absence of a context change', *Hippocampus*, vol. 25, no. 2, pp. 149-58.

Anwyl, R 1999, 'Metabotropic glutamate receptors: electrophysiological properties and role in plasticity', *Brain Research Reviews*, vol. 29, no. 1, pp. 83-120.

Aoki, T, Narita, M, Shibasaki, M & Suzuki, T 2004, 'Metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 localized in the limbic forebrain is critical for the development of morphine-induced rewarding effect in mice', *Eur J Neurosci*, vol. 20, no. 6, pp. 1633-8.

Armstrong, F, Arunogiri, S, Frei, MY & Lubman, DI 2020, 'The six Rs of managing high-risk opioid prescribing', *Aust J Gen Pract*, vol. 49, no. 3, pp. 116-20.

Arvidsson, E, Viereckel, T, Mikulovic, S & Wallen-Mackenzie, A 2014, 'Age- and sexdependence of dopamine release and capacity for recovery identified in the dorsal striatum of C57/Bl6J mice', *PLoS One*, vol. 9, no. 6, p. e99592.

Australian Institute of Health and Welfare 2020, *National Drug Strategy Household Survey 2019*, AIHW, Canberra.

Back, SE, Payne, RL, Simpson, AN & Brady, KT 2010, 'Gender and prescription opioids: findings from the National Survey on Drug Use and Health', *Addict Behav*, vol. 35, no. 11, pp. 1001-7.

Bechara, A, Berridge, KC, Bickel, WK, Moron, JA, Williams, SB & Stein, JS 2019, 'A Neurobehavioral Approach to Addiction: Implications for the Opioid Epidemic and the Psychology of Addiction', *Psychol Sci Public Interest*, vol. 20, no. 2, pp. 96-127.

Becker, A, Grecksch, G, Brodemann, R, Kraus, J, Peters, B, Schroeder, H, Thiemann, W, Loh, HH & Hollt, V 2000, 'Morphine self-administration in mu-opioid receptor-deficient mice', *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol*, vol. 361, no. 6, pp. 584-9.

Becker, JAJ, Kieffer, BL & Le Merrer, J 2017, 'Differential behavioral and molecular alterations upon protracted abstinence from cocaine versus morphine, nicotine, THC and alcohol', *Addict Biol*, vol. 22, no. 5, pp. 1205-17.

Bhargava, HN 1991, 'Multiple opiate receptors of brain and spinal cord in opiate addiction', *Gen Pharmacol*, vol. 22, no. 5, pp. 767-72.

Bird, MK, Kirchhoff, J, Djouma, E & Lawrence, AJ 2008, 'Metabotropic glutamate 5 receptors regulate sensitivity to ethanol in mice', *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol*, vol. 11, no. 6, pp. 765-74.

Bird, MK, Lohmann, P, West, B, Brown, RM, Kirchhoff, J, Raymond, CR & Lawrence, AJ 2014, 'The mGlu5 receptor regulates extinction of cocaine-driven behaviours', *Drug Alcohol Depend*, vol. 137, pp. 83-9.

Bird, MK, Reid, CA, Chen, F, Tan, HO, Petrou, S & Lawrence, AJ 2010, 'Cocainemediated synaptic potentiation is absent in VTA neurons from mGlu5-deficient mice', *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol*, vol. 13, no. 2, pp. 133-41.

Blanch, B, Pearson, SA & Haber, PS 2014, 'An overview of the patterns of prescription opioid use, costs and related harms in Australia', *Br J Clin Pharmacol*, vol. 78, no. 5, pp. 1159-66.

Blander, A, Hunt, T, Blair, R & Amit, Z 1984, 'Conditioned place preference: an evaluation of morphine's positive reinforcing properties', *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, vol. 84, no. 1, pp. 124-7.

Bodnar, RJ 2017, 'Endogenous Opiates and Behavior: 2015', Peptides, vol. 88, pp. 126-88.

Brown, RM, Mustafa, S, Ayoub, MA, Dodd, PR, Pfleger, KD & Lawrence, AJ 2012, 'mGlu5 Receptor Functional Interactions and Addiction', *Front Pharmacol*, vol. 3, p. 84.

Brown, RM, Stagnitti, MR, Duncan, JR & Lawrence, AJ 2012, 'The mGlu5 receptor antagonist MTEP attenuates opiate self-administration and cue-induced opiate-seeking behaviour in mice', *Drug Alcohol Depend*, vol. 123, no. 1-3, pp. 264-8.

Cahill, CM, Walwyn, W, Taylor, AMW, Pradhan, AAA & Evans, CJ 2016, 'Allostatic Mechanisms of Opioid Tolerance Beyond Desensitization and Downregulation', *Trends Pharmacol Sci*, vol. 37, no. 11, pp. 963-76.

Carroll, FI 2008, 'Antagonists at metabotropic glutamate receptor subtype 5: structure activity relationships and therapeutic potential for addiction', *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, vol. 1141, pp. 221-32.

Chartoff, EH & Connery, HS 2014, 'It's MORe exciting than mu: crosstalk between mu opioid receptors and glutamatergic transmission in the mesolimbic dopamine system', *Front Pharmacol*, vol. 5, p. 116.

Chartoff, EH & Mavrikaki, M 2015, 'Sex Differences in Kappa Opioid Receptor Function and Their Potential Impact on Addiction', *Front Neurosci*, vol. 9, p. 466.

Chesworth, R, Brown, RM, Kim, JH & Lawrence, AJ 2013, 'The metabotropic glutamate 5 receptor modulates extinction and reinstatement of methamphetamine-seeking in mice', *PLoS One*, vol. 8, no. 7, p. e68371.

Chesworth, R & Corbit, LH 2017, 'Recent developments in the behavioural and pharmacological enhancement of extinction of drug seeking', *Addict Biol*, vol. 22, no. 1, pp. 3-43.

Chesworth, R & Karl, T 2020, 'Cannabidiol (CBD) reduces cocaine-environment memory in mice', *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*, vol. 199, p. 173065.

Chesworth, R, Rosa-Porto, R, Yao, S & Karl, T 2021, 'Sex-specific sensitivity to methamphetamine-induced schizophrenia-relevant behaviours in neuregulin 1 type III overexpressing mice', *J Psychopharmacol*, vol. 35, no. 1, pp. 50-64.

Chistyakov, VS & Tsibulsky, VL 2006, 'How to achieve chronic intravenous drug self-administration in mice', *J Pharmacol Toxicol Methods*, vol. 53, no. 2, pp. 117-27.

Cicero, TJ, Aylward, SC & Meyer, ER 2003, 'Gender differences in the intravenous selfadministration of mu opiate agonists', *Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior*, vol. 74, no. 3, pp. 541-9.

Cicero, TJ, Ennis, T, Ogden, J & Meyer, ER 2000, 'Gender Differences in the Reinforcing Properties of Morphine', *Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior*, vol. 65, no. 1, pp. 91-6.

Collins, D, Reed, B, Zhang, Y & Kreek, MJ 2016, 'Sex differences in responsiveness to the prescription opioid oxycodone in mice', *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*, vol. 148, pp. 99-105.

Compton, WM, Boyle, M & Wargo, E 2015, 'Prescription opioid abuse: Problems and responses', *Prev Med*, vol. 80, pp. 5-9.

Conklin, CA & Tiffany, ST 2002, 'Applying extinction research and theory to cue-exposure addiction treatments', *Addiction*, vol. 97, no. 2, pp. 155-67.

Cooper, S, Robison, AJ & Mazei-Robison, MS 2017, 'Reward Circuitry in Addiction', *Neurotherapeutics*, vol. 14, no. 3, pp. 687-97.

Coppock, A 2019, randomizr: Easy-to-Use Tools for Common Forms of Random Assignment and Sampling, R package version 0.20.0 edn.

Corbit, LH, Leung, BK & Balleine, BW 2013, 'The role of the amygdala-striatal pathway in the acquisition and performance of goal-directed instrumental actions', *J Neurosci*, vol. 33, no. 45, pp. 17682-90.

Cox, SML, Tippler, M, Jaworska, N, Smart, K, Castellanos-Ryan, N, Durand, F, Allard, D, Benkelfat, C, Parent, S, Dagher, A, Vitaro, F, Boivin, M, Pihl, RO, Cote, S, Tremblay, RE, Seguin, JR & Leyton, M 2020, 'mGlu5 receptor availability in youth at risk for addictions: effects of vulnerability traits and cannabis use', *Neuropsychopharmacology*.

Craft, RM, Clark, JL, Hart, SP & Pinckney, MK 2006, 'Sex differences in locomotor effects of morphine in the rat', *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*, vol. 85, no. 4, pp. 850-8.

Cunningham, CL, Ferree, NK & Howard, MA 2003, 'Apparatus bias and place conditioning with ethanol in mice', *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, vol. 170, no. 4, pp. 409-22.

Cunningham, CL, Gremel, CM & Groblewski, PA 2006, 'Drug-induced conditioned place preference and aversion in mice', *Nat Protoc*, vol. 1, no. 4, pp. 1662-70.

Cunningham, CL, Patel, P & Milner, L 2006, 'Spatial location is critical for conditioning place

preference with visual but not tactile stimuli', Behav Neurosci, vol. 120, no. 5, pp. 1115-32.

Dag, O, Dolgan, A & Konar, NM 2018, 'onewaytests: An R Package for One-Way Tests in Independent Groups Designs', *The R Journal*, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 175-99.

De Sa Nogueira, D, Merienne, K & Befort, K 2019, 'Neuroepigenetics and addictive behaviors: Where do we stand?', *Neurosci Biobehav Rev*, vol. 106, pp. 58-72.

Degenhardt, L, Charlson, F, Mathers, B, Hall, WD, Flaxman, AD, Johns, N & Vos, T 2014, 'The global epidemiology and burden of opioid dependence: results from the global burden of disease 2010 study', *Addiction*, vol. 109, no. 8, pp. 1320-33.

Di Chiara, G & Imperato, A 1988, 'Drugs abused by humans preferentially increase synaptic dopamine concentrations in the mesolimbic system of freely moving rats', *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*, vol. 85, no. 14, pp. 5274-8.

Elmer, GI, Pieper, JO, Hamilton, LR & Wise, RA 2010, 'Qualitative differences between C57BL/6J and DBA/2J mice in morphine potentiation of brain stimulation reward and intravenous self-administration', *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, vol. 208, no. 2, pp. 309-21.

Farrell, MR, Schoch, H & Mahler, SV 2018, 'Modeling cocaine relapse in rodents: Behavioral considerations and circuit mechanisms', *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry*, vol. 87, no. Pt A, pp. 33-47.

Flandreau, EI, Ressler, KJ, Owens, MJ & Nemeroff, CB 2012, 'Chronic overexpression of corticotropin-releasing factor from the central amygdala produces HPA axis hyperactivity and behavioral anxiety associated with gene-expression changes in the hippocampus and paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus', *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, vol. 37, no. 1, pp. 27-38.

Fox, J & Weisberg, S 2019, *An* {*R*} *Companion to Applied Regression*, Sage, Thousand Oaks, CA, <<u>https://socialsciences.mcmaster.ca/jfox/Books/Companion/</u>>.

Ghozland, S, Matthes, HWD, Simonin, F, Filliol, D, Kieffer, BL & Maldonado, R 2002, 'Motivational Effects of Cannabinoids Are Mediated by  $\mu$ -Opioid and  $\kappa$ -Opioid Receptors', *The Journal of Neuroscience*, vol. 22, no. 3, pp. 1146-54.

Goetz, TG, Becker, JB & Mazure, CM 2021, 'Women, opioid use and addiction', *FASEB J*, vol. 35, no. 2, p. e21303.

Gonzalez-Lozano, MA, Wortel, J, van der Loo, RJ, van Weering, JRT, Smit, AB & Li, KW 2021, 'Reduced mGluR5 Activity Modulates Mitochondrial Function', *Cells*, vol. 10, no. 6.

Guimaraes, IM, Carvalho, TG, Ferguson, SS, Pereira, GS & Ribeiro, FM 2015, 'The metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 role on motor behavior involves specific neural substrates', *Mol Brain*, vol. 8, p. 24.

Hearing, MC, Jedynak, J, Ebner, SR, Ingebretson, A, Asp, AJ, Fischer, RA, Schmidt, C, Larson, EB & Thomas, MJ 2016, 'Reversal of morphine-induced cell-type-specific synaptic plasticity in the nucleus accumbens shell blocks reinstatement', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, vol. 113, no. 3, pp. 757-62.

Heidari, P, Sahebgharani, M, Riazi, G & Zarrindast, MR 2006, 'Influence of morphine and dopamine receptor sensitization on locomotor activity in mice', *Pharmacology*, vol. 78, no. 4, pp. 185-92.

Herzig, V & Schmidt, WJ 2004, 'Effects of MPEP on locomotion, sensitization and conditioned reward induced by cocaine or morphine', *Neuropharmacology*, vol. 47, no. 7, pp. 973-84.

Højsgaard, S & Halekoh, U 2020, *doBy: Groupwise Statistics, LSmeans, Linear Contrasts, Utilities*, R package version 4.6.8 edn, <a href="https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=doBy">https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=doBy</a>.

Huang, M, Luo, L, Zhang, Y, Wang, W, Dong, J, Du, W, Jiang, W & Xu, T 2019, 'Metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 signalling induced NMDA receptor subunits alterations during the development of morphine-induced antinociceptive tolerance in mouse cortex', *Biomed Pharmacother*, vol. 110, pp. 717-26.

Hurd, YL, Yoon, M, Manini, AF, Hernandez, S, Olmedo, R, Ostman, M & Jutras-Aswad, D 2015, 'Early Phase in the Development of Cannabidiol as a Treatment for Addiction: Opioid Relapse Takes Initial Center Stage', *Neurotherapeutics*, vol. 12, no. 4, pp. 807-15.

Huston, JP, Silva, MA, Topic, B & Muller, CP 2013, 'What's conditioned in conditioned place preference?', *Trends Pharmacol Sci*, vol. 34, no. 3, pp. 162-6.

James, AS, Chen, JY, Cepeda, C, Mittal, N, Jentsch, JD, Levine, MS, Evans, CJ & Walwyn, W 2013, 'Opioid self-administration results in cell-type specific adaptations of striatal medium spiny neurons', *Behav Brain Res*, vol. 256, pp. 279-83.

Jones, PR 2019, 'A note on detecting statistical outliers in psychophysical data', *Atten Percept Psychophys*, vol. 81, no. 5, pp. 1189-96.

Joo, YH, Kim, YK, Choi, IG, Kim, HJ, Son, YD, Kim, HK, Cumming, P & Kim, JH 2020, 'In vivo glucose metabolism and glutamate levels in mGluR5 knockout mice: a multimodal neuroimaging study using [(18)F]FDG microPET and MRS', *EJNMMI Res*, vol. 10, no. 1, p. 116.

Kalivas, PW 2009, 'The glutamate homeostasis hypothesis of addiction', *Nat Rev Neurosci*, vol. 10, no. 8, pp. 561-72.

Kalivas, PW & Volkow, ND 2005, 'The neural basis of addiction: a pathology of motivation and choice', *Am J Psychiatry*, vol. 162, no. 8, pp. 1403-13.

Kaplan, GB, Leite-Morris, KA, Fan, W, Young, AJ & Guy, MD 2011, 'Opiate sensitization induces FosB/DeltaFosB expression in prefrontal cortical, striatal and amygdala brain regions', *PLoS One*, vol. 6, no. 8, p. e23574.

Karami, M & Zarrindast, MR 2008, 'Morphine sex-dependently induced place conditioning in adult Wistar rats', *Eur J Pharmacol*, vol. 582, no. 1-3, pp. 78-87.

Karl, T, Duffy, L, Scimone, A, Harvey, RP & Schofield, PR 2007, 'Altered motor activity, exploration and anxiety in heterozygous neuregulin 1 mutant mice: implications for understanding schizophrenia', *Genes Brain Behav*, vol. 6, no. 7, pp. 677-87.

Kasanetz, F, Véronique Deroche-Gamonet, Nadège Berson, Eric Balado, Mathieu Lafourcade, Olivier Manzoni, and Pier Vincenzo Piazza 2010, 'Transition to Addiction Is Associated with a Persistent Impairment in Synaptic Plasticity', *Science*, vol. 328, no. 5986, pp. 1709-12.

Kieffer, BL & Gaveriaux-Ruff, C 2002, 'Exploring the opioid system by gene knockout', *Prog Neurobiol*, vol. 66, no. 5, pp. 285-306.

Kim, J, Ham, S, Hong, H, Moon, C & Im, HI 2016, 'Brain Reward Circuits in Morphine Addiction', *Mol Cells*, vol. 39, no. 9, pp. 645-53.

Koch, T & Hollt, V 2008, 'Role of receptor internalization in opioid tolerance and dependence', *Pharmacol Ther*, vol. 117, no. 2, pp. 199-206.

Koek, W 2014, 'Effects of repeated exposure to morphine in adolescent and adult male C57BL/6J mice: age-dependent differences in locomotor stimulation, sensitization, and body weight loss', *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, vol. 231, no. 8, pp. 1517-29.

Koek, W 2016, 'Morphine-induced conditioned place preference and effects of morphine preexposure in adolescent and adult male C57BL/6J mice', *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, vol. 233, no. 11, pp. 2015-24.

Koek, W, France, CP & Javors, MA 2012, 'Morphine-induced motor stimulation, motor incoordination, and hypothermia in adolescent and adult mice', *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, vol. 219, no. 4, pp. 1027-37.

Kokane, SS & Perrotti, LI 2020, 'Sex Differences and the Role of Estradiol in Mesolimbic Reward Circuits and Vulnerability to Cocaine and Opiate Addiction', *Front Behav Neurosci*, vol. 14, p. 74.

Kotlinska, J & Bochenski, M 2007, 'Comparison of the effects of mGluR1 and mGluR5 antagonists on the expression of behavioral sensitization to the locomotor effect of morphine and the morphine withdrawal jumping in mice', *Eur J Pharmacol*, vol. 558, no. 1-3, pp. 113-8.

Kuschinsky, K & Hornykiewicz, O 1974, 'Effects of morphine on striatal dopamine metabolism: Possible mechanism of its opposite effect on locomotor activity in rats and mice', *European Journal of Pharmacology*, vol. 26, no. 1, pp. 41-50.

Laakso, A, Vilkman, H, Bergman, J, Haaparanta, M, Solin, O, Syvalahti, E, Salokangas, RK & Hietala, J 2002, 'Sex differences in striatal presynaptic dopamine synthesis capacity in healthy subjects', *Biol Psychiatry*, vol. 52, no. 7, pp. 759-63.

Lammel, S, Lim, BK & Malenka, RC 2014, 'Reward and aversion in a heterogeneous midbrain dopamine system', *Neuropharmacology*, vol. 76 Pt B, pp. 351-9.

Lammel, S, Lim, BK, Ran, C, Huang, KW, Betley, MJ, Tye, KM, Deisseroth, K & Malenka, RC 2012, 'Input-specific control of reward and aversion in the ventral tegmental area', *Nature*, vol. 491, no. 7423, pp. 212-7.

Law, PY, Wong, YH & Loh, HH 2000, 'Molecular mechanisms and regulation of opioid receptor signaling', *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol*, vol. 40, pp. 389-430.

Le Merrer, J, Becker, JA, Befort, K & Kieffer, BL 2009, 'Reward processing by the opioid system in the brain', *Physiol Rev*, vol. 89, no. 4, pp. 1379-412.

Lea, PMt & Faden, AI 2006, 'Metabotropic glutamate receptor subtype 5 antagonists MPEP and MTEP', *CNS Drug Rev*, vol. 12, no. 2, pp. 149-66.

Lenth, R 2020, *emmeans: Estimated Marginal Means, aka Least-Squares Means*, R package version 1.5.2-1 edn, <a href="https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=emmeans">https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=emmeans</a>>.

Lindemann, L, Jaeschke, G, Michalon, A, Vieira, E, Honer, M, Spooren, W, Porter, R, Hartung, T, Kolczewski, S, Buttelmann, B, Flament, C, Diener, C, Fischer, C, Gatti, S, Prinssen, EP, Parrott, N, Hoffmann, G & Wettstein, JG 2011, 'CTEP: a novel, potent, long-acting, and orally bioavailable metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 inhibitor', *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, vol. 339, no. 2, pp. 474-86.

Listos, J, Lupina, M, Talarek, S, Mazur, A, Orzelska-Gorka, J & Kotlinska, J 2019, 'The Mechanisms Involved in Morphine Addiction: An Overview', *Int J Mol Sci*, vol. 20, no. 17.

Liu, JX, Tang, YC, Liu, Y & Tang, FR 2008, 'mGluR5-PLCbeta4-PKCbeta2/PKCgamma pathways in hippocampal CA1 pyramidal neurons in pilocarpine model of status epilepticus in mGluR5+/+ mice', *Epilepsy Res*, vol. 82, no. 2-3, pp. 111-23.

Loggi, G, Laviola, G, Alleva, E & Chiarotti, F 1991, 'Morphine effects on mouse locomotor/ exploratory activity: test dependency, test reliability, uni- and multi-variate analyses', *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*, vol. 38, no. 4, pp. 817-22.

Luo, YX, Xue, YX, Shen, HW & Lu, L 2013, 'Role of amygdala in drug memory', *Neurobiol Learn Mem*, vol. 105, pp. 159-73.

MacNicol, B 2017, 'The biology of addiction', Can J Anaesth, vol. 64, no. 2, pp. 141-8.

Maechler, M 2021, *diptest: Hartigan's Dip Test Statistic for Unimodality - Corrected*, R package version 0.76-0 edn, <a href="https://github.com/mmaechler/diptest">https://github.com/mmaechler/diptest</a>.

Margolis, EB, Hjelmstad, GO, Fujita, W & Fields, HL 2014, 'Direct bidirectional mu-opioid control of midbrain dopamine neurons', *J Neurosci*, vol. 34, no. 44, pp. 14707-16.

Martinez, LA, Peterson, BM, Meisel, RL & Mermelstein, PG 2014, 'Estradiol facilitation of cocaine-induced locomotor sensitization in female rats requires activation of mGluR5', *Behav Brain Res*, vol. 271, pp. 39-42.

Matsumoto, H, Tian, J, Uchida, N & Watabe-Uchida, M 2016, 'Midbrain dopamine neurons signal aversion in a reward-context-dependent manner', *Elife*, vol. 5.

Mazei-Robison, MS, Koo, JW, Friedman, AK, Lansink, CS, Robison, AJ, Vinish, M, Krishnan, V, Kim, S, Siuta, MA, Galli, A, Niswender, KD, Appasani, R, Horvath, MC, Neve, RL, Worley, PF, Snyder, SH, Hurd, YL, Cheer, JF, Han, MH, Russo, SJ & Nestler, EJ 2011, 'Role for mTOR signaling and neuronal activity in morphine-induced adaptations in ventral tegmental area dopamine neurons', *Neuron*, vol. 72, no. 6, pp. 977-90.

McGeehan, AJ & Olive, MF 2003, 'The mGluR5 antagonist MPEP reduces the conditioned

rewarding effects of cocaine but not other drugs of abuse', Synapse, vol. 47, no. 3, pp. 240-2.

McKendrick, G & Graziane, NM 2020, 'Drug-Induced Conditioned Place Preference and Its Practical Use in Substance Use Disorder Research', *Front Behav Neurosci*, vol. 14, p. 582147.

Mirbaha, H, Tabaeizadeh, M, Shaterian-Mohammadi, H, Tahsili-Fahadan, P & Dehpour, AR 2009, 'Estrogen pretreatment modulates morphine-induced conditioned place preference in ovariectomized mice', *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*, vol. 92, no. 3, pp. 399-403.

Mueller, D, Perdikaris, D & Stewart, J 2002, 'Persistence and drug-induced reinstatement of a morphine-induced conditioned place preference', *Behavioural Brain Research*, vol. 136, no. 2, pp. 389-97.

Muller, CP 2018, 'Animal models of psychoactive drug use and addiction - Present problems and future needs for translational approaches', *Behav Brain Res*, vol. 352, pp. 109-15.

Murnion, B 2012, 'Management of opioid substitution therapy during medical intervention', *Intern Med J*, vol. 42, no. 3, pp. 242-6.

Murphy, NP, Lam, HA & Maidment, NT 2001, 'A comparison of morphine-induced locomotor activity and mesolimbic dopamine release in C57BL6, 129Sv and DBA2 mice', *J Neurochem*, vol. 79, no. 3, pp. 626-35.

Myers, KM & Carlezon, WA, Jr. 2010, 'Extinction of drug- and withdrawal-paired cues in animal models: relevance to the treatment of addiction', *Neurosci Biobehav Rev*, vol. 35, no. 2, pp. 285-302.

Naie, K & Manahan-Vaughan, D 2004, 'Regulation by metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 of LTP in the dentate gyrus of freely moving rats: relevance for learning and memory formation', *Cereb Cortex*, vol. 14, no. 2, pp. 189-98.

Napier, TC, Herrold, AA & de Wit, H 2013, 'Using conditioned place preference to identify relapse prevention medications', *Neurosci Biobehav Rev*, vol. 37, no. 9 Pt A, pp. 2081-6.

Navarro, M, Carrera, MR, Fratta, W, Valverde, O, Cossu, G, Fattore, L, Chowen, JA, Gomez, R, del Arco, I, Villanua, MA, Maldonado, R, Koob, GF & Rodriguez de Fonseca, F 2001, 'Functional interaction between opioid and cannabinoid receptors in drug self-administration', *J Neurosci*, vol. 21, no. 14, pp. 5344-50.

Nguyen, JD, Grant, Y, Creehan, KM, Hwang, CS, Vandewater, SA, Janda, KD, Cole, M & Taffe, MA 2019, 'Delta(9)-tetrahydrocannabinol attenuates oxycodone self-administration under extended access conditions', *Neuropharmacology*, vol. 151, pp. 127-35.

Nic Dhonnchadha, BA & Kantak, KM 2011, 'Cognitive enhancers for facilitating drug cue extinction: insights from animal models', *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*, vol. 99, no. 2, pp. 229-44.

Niehaus, JL, Murali, M & Kauer, JA 2010, 'Drugs of abuse and stress impair LTP at inhibitory synapses in the ventral tegmental area', *Eur J Neurosci*, vol. 32, no. 1, pp. 108-17.

Nugent, FS, Penick, EC & Kauer, JA 2007, 'Opioids block long-term potentiation of inhibitory

synapses', Nature, vol. 446, no. 7139, pp. 1086-90.

Numan, R, Banerjee, U, Smith, N & Lal, H 1976, 'Secondary reinforcement property of a stimulus paired with morphine administration in the rat', *Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior*, vol. 5, no. 4, pp. 395-9.

Palucha, A, Branski, P & Pilc, A 2004, 'Selective mGlu5 receptor antagonist MTEP attenuates naloxone-induced morphine withdrawal symptoms', *Pol J Pharmacol*, vol. 56, no. 6, pp. 863-6.

Panlilio, LV & Goldberg, SR 2007, 'Self-administration of drugs in animals and humans as a model and an investigative tool', *Addiction*, vol. 102, no. 12, pp. 1863-70.

Papaleo, F & Contarino, A 2006, 'Gender- and morphine dose-linked expression of spontaneous somatic opiate withdrawal in mice', *Behav Brain Res*, vol. 170, no. 1, pp. 110-8.

Patti, CL, Frussa-Filho, R, Silva, RH, Carvalho, RC, Kameda, SR, Takatsu-Coleman, AL, Cunha, JL & Abilio, VC 2005, 'Behavioral characterization of morphine effects on motor activity in mice', *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*, vol. 81, no. 4, pp. 923-7.

Peters, J & De Vries, TJ 2012, 'Glutamate mechanisms underlying opiate memories', *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med*, vol. 2, no. 9, p. a012088.

Piazza, PV & Deroche-Gamonet, V 2013, 'A multistep general theory of transition to addiction', *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, vol. 229, no. 3, pp. 387-413.

Pickens, CL, Airavaara, M, Theberge, F, Fanous, S, Hope, BT & Shaham, Y 2011, 'Neurobiology of the incubation of drug craving', *Trends Neurosci*, vol. 34, no. 8, pp. 411-20.

Poltyrev, T & Yaka, R 2013, 'Influence of abstinence and intervals between extinction trials on the expression of cocaine-conditioned place preference in adolescent rats', *Psychopharmacology (Berl*), vol. 226, no. 4, pp. 699-706.

Popik, P 2002, 'Morphine conditioned reward is inhibited by MPEP, the mGluR5 antagonist', *Neuropharmacology*, vol. 43, no. 8, pp. 1210-7.

Popik, P, Kozela, E, Wrobel, M, Wozniak, KM & Slusher, BS 2003, 'Morphine tolerance and reward but not expression of morphine dependence are inhibited by the selective glutamate carboxypeptidase II (GCP II, NAALADase) inhibitor, 2-PMPA', *Neuropsychopharmacology*, vol. 28, no. 3, pp. 457-67.

Powell, KR & Holtzman, SG 2001, 'Parametric evaluation of the development of sensitization to the effects of morphine on locomotor activity', *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, vol. 62, no. 1, pp. 83-90.

Quintero, GC 2013, 'Role of nucleus accumbens glutamatergic plasticity in drug addiction', *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat*, vol. 9, pp. 1499-512.

R Core Team 2020, *R: A language and environment for statistical computing*, R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria, <a href="https://www.R-project.org/">https://www.R-project.org/</a>>.

Ribeiro Do Couto, B, Aguilar, MA, Manzanedo, C, Rodriguez-Arias, M & Minarro, J 2003,

'Reinstatement of morphine-induced conditioned place preference in mice by priming injections', *Neural Plast*, vol. 10, no. 4, pp. 279-90.

Riccardi, P, Park, S, Anderson, S, Doop, M, Ansari, MS, Schmidt, D & Baldwin, R 2011, 'Sex differences in the relationship of regional dopamine release to affect and cognitive function in striatal and extrastriatal regions using positron emission tomography and [(1)(8)F]fallypride', *Synapse*, vol. 65, no. 2, pp. 99-102.

Rodríguez, JJ, Mackie, K & Pickel, VM 2001, 'Ultrastructural Localization of the CB1 Cannabinoid Receptor in μ-Opioid Receptor Patches of the Rat Caudate Putamen Nucleus', *The Journal of Neuroscience*, vol. 21, no. 3, pp. 823-33.

Roxburgh, A, Hall, WD, Dobbins, T, Gisev, N, Burns, L, Pearson, S & Degenhardt, L 2017, 'Trends in heroin and pharmaceutical opioid overdose deaths in Australia', *Drug Alcohol Depend*, vol. 179, pp. 291-8.

RStudio Team 2019, *RStudio: Integrated Development for R*, RStudio, Inc., Boston MA, <a href="http://www.rstudio.com">http://www.rstudio.com</a>>.

Rutten, K, Van Der Kam, EL, De Vry, J, Bruckmann, W & Tzschentke, TM 2011, 'The mGluR5 antagonist 2-methyl-6-(phenylethynyl)-pyridine (MPEP) potentiates conditioned place preference induced by various addictive and non-addictive drugs in rats', *Addict Biol*, vol. 16, no. 1, pp. 108-15.

Rutten, K, van der Kam, EL, De Vry, J & Tzschentke, TM 2011, 'Critical evaluation of the use of extinction paradigms for the assessment of opioid-induced conditioned place preference in rats', *Pharmacology*, vol. 87, no. 5-6, pp. 286-96.

Saal, D, Dong, Y, Bonci, A & Malenka, RC 2003, 'Drugs of abuse and stress trigger a common synaptic adaptation in dopamine neurons', *Neuron*, vol. 37, no. 4, pp. 577-82.

Saito, H 1990, 'Inhibitory and stimulatory effects of morphine on locomotor activity in mice: Biochemical and behavioral studies', *Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior*, vol. 35, no. 1, pp. 231-5.

Sakoori, K & Murphy, NP 2005, 'Maintenance of conditioned place preferences and aversion in C57BL6 mice: effects of repeated and drug state testing', *Behav Brain Res*, vol. 160, no. 1, pp. 34-43.

Scavone, JL, Sterling, RC & Van Bockstaele, EJ 2013, 'Cannabinoid and opioid interactions: implications for opiate dependence and withdrawal', *Neuroscience*, vol. 248, pp. 637-54.

Serdarevic, M, Striley, CW & Cottler, LB 2017, 'Sex differences in prescription opioid use', *Curr Opin Psychiatry*, vol. 30, no. 4, pp. 238-46.

Shalev, U, Morales, M, Hope, B, Yap, J & Shaham, Y 2001, 'Time-dependent changes in extinction behavior and stress-induced reinstatement of drug seeking following withdrawal from heroin in rats', *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, vol. 156, no. 1, pp. 98-107.

Sherman, JE, Pickman, C, Rice, A, Liebeskind, JC & Holman, EW 1980, 'Rewarding and aversive effects of morphine: temporal and pharmacological properties', *Pharmacol Biochem* 

Behav, vol. 13, no. 4, pp. 501-5.

Shigemoto, R, Nomura, S, Ohishi, H, Sugihara, H, Nakanishi, S & Mizuno, N 1993, 'Immunohistochemical localization of a metabotropic glutamate receptor, mGluR5, in the rat brain', *Neuroscience Letters*, vol. 163, no. 1, pp. 53-7.

Singmann, H, Bolker, B, Westfall, J, Aust, F & Ben-Shachar, MS 2021, *afex: Analysis of Factorial Experiments*, R package version 0.28-1 edn, <a href="https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=afex">https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=afex</a>>.

Smith, RJ & Aston-Jones, G 2014, 'Incentive learning for morphine-associated stimuli during protracted abstinence increases conditioned drug preference', *Neuropsychopharmacology*, vol. 39, no. 2, pp. 373-9.

Song, Z, Yang, H, Peckham, EM & Becker, JB 2019, 'Estradiol-Induced Potentiation of Dopamine Release in Dorsal Striatum Following Amphetamine Administration Requires Estradiol Receptors and mGlu5', *eNeuro*, vol. 6, no. 1.

Spielewoy, C, Gonon, F, Roubert, C, Fauchey, V, Jaber, M, Caron, MG, Roques, BP, Hamon, M, Betancur, C, Maldonado, R & Giros, B 2000, 'Increased rewarding properties of morphine in dopamine-transporter knockout mice', *Eur J Neurosci*, vol. 12, no. 5, pp. 1827-37.

AGDoHa Ageing 2003, *Clinical Guidelines and Procedures for the Use of Methadone in the Maintenance Treatment of Opioid Dependence*, by Sue Henry-Edwards, LG, Jason White, Robert Ali,, James Bell, RB, Nick Lintzeris, & Alison Ritter, AQ.

Tejeda, HA, Wu, J, Kornspun, AR, Pignatelli, M, Kashtelyan, V, Krashes, MJ, Lowell, BB, Carlezon, WA, Jr. & Bonci, A 2017, 'Pathway- and Cell-Specific Kappa-Opioid Receptor Modulation of Excitation-Inhibition Balance Differentially Gates D1 and D2 Accumbens Neuron Activity', *Neuron*, vol. 93, no. 1, pp. 147-63.

Terra, H, Bruinsma, B, de Kloet, SF, van der Roest, M, Pattij, T & Mansvelder, HD 2020, 'Prefrontal Cortical Projection Neurons Targeting Dorsomedial Striatum Control Behavioral Inhibition', *Curr Biol*, vol. 30, no. 21, pp. 4188-200 e5.

Tonn Eisinger, KR, Gross, KS, Head, BP & Mermelstein, PG 2018, 'Interactions between estrogen receptors and metabotropic glutamate receptors and their impact on drug addiction in females', *Horm Behav*, vol. 104, pp. 130-7.

Trigo, JM, Martin-Garcia, E, Berrendero, F, Robledo, P & Maldonado, R 2010, 'The endogenous opioid system: a common substrate in drug addiction', *Drug Alcohol Depend*, vol. 108, no. 3, pp. 183-94.

Tzschentke, TM 2001, 'Pharmacology and behavioral pharmacology of the mesocortical dopamine system', *Progress in Neurobiology*, vol. 63, no. 3, pp. 241-320.

Ueda, H, Inoue, M & Matsumoto, T 2001, 'Protein Kinase C-Mediated Inhibition of  $\mu$ -Opioid Receptor Internalization and Its Involvement in the Development of Acute Tolerance to Peripheral  $\mu$ -Agonist Analgesia', *The Journal of Neuroscience*, vol. 21, no. 9, pp. 2967-73.

Valerio, A, Rizzonelli, P, Paterlini, M, Moretto, G, Knöpfel, T, Kuhn, R, Memo, M & Spano, P 1997, 'mGluR5 metabotropic glutamate receptor distribution in rat and human spinal cord: a

developmental study', Neuroscience Research, vol. 28, no. 1, pp. 49-57.

Valjent, E, Bertran-Gonzalez, J, Aubier, B, Greengard, P, Herve, D & Girault, JA 2010, 'Mechanisms of locomotor sensitization to drugs of abuse in a two-injection protocol', *Neuropsychopharmacology*, vol. 35, no. 2, pp. 401-15.

van der Kam, EL, De Vry, J & Tzschentke, TM 2007, 'Effect of 2-methyl-6-(phenylethynyl) pyridine on intravenous self-administration of ketamine and heroin in the rat', *Behavioural pharmacology*, vol. 18, no. 8, pp. 717-24.

van der Kam, EL, De Vry, J & Tzschentke, TM 2009a, '2-Methyl-6-(phenylethynyl)-pyridine (MPEP) potentiates ketamine and heroin reward as assessed by acquisition, extinction, and reinstatement of conditioned place preference in the rat', *Eur J Pharmacol*, vol. 606, no. 1-3, pp. 94-101.

van der Kam, EL, De Vry, J & Tzschentke, TM 2009b, 'The mGlu5 receptor antagonist 2-methyl-6-(phenylethynyl)pyridine (MPEP) supports intravenous self-administration and induces conditioned place preference in the rat', *Eur J Pharmacol*, vol. 607, no. 1-3, pp. 114-20.

Veeneman, MM, Boleij, H, Broekhoven, MH, Snoeren, EM, Guitart Masip, M, Cousijn, J, Spooren, W & Vanderschuren, LJ 2011, 'Dissociable roles of mGlu5 and dopamine receptors in the rewarding and sensitizing properties of morphine and cocaine', *Psychopharmacology* (*Berl*), vol. 214, no. 4, pp. 863-76.

Volkow, ND, Fowler, JS, Wang, GJ & Swanson, JM 2004, 'Dopamine in drug abuse and addiction: results from imaging studies and treatment implications', *Mol Psychiatry*, vol. 9, no. 6, pp. 557-69.

Volkow, ND, Wang, GJ, Fowler, JS & Tomasi, D 2012, 'Addiction circuitry in the human brain', *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol*, vol. 52, pp. 321-36.

Volkow, ND, Wang, GJ, Fowler, JS, Tomasi, D & Telang, F 2011, 'Addiction: beyond dopamine reward circuitry', *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, vol. 108, no. 37, pp. 15037-42.

Wang, B, Luo, F, Zhang, WT & Han, JS 2000, 'Stress or drug priming induces reinstatement of extinguished conditioned place preference', *Neuroreport*, vol. 11, no. 12, pp. 2781-4.

Way, ELEL & Adler, TKTK 1962, 'The biological disposition of morphine and its surrogates: 4', *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, vol. 27, no. 3, pp. 359-94.

Weeks, C & Stenstrom, DM 2020, 'Stigmatization of opioid addiction based on prescription, sex and age', *Addict Behav*, vol. 108, p. 106469.

Whetton, S, Tait, R.J., Chrzanowska, A., Donnelly, N., McEntee, A., Muhktar, A., Zahra, E., Campbell, G., Degenhardt, L., Dey, T., Abdul Halim, S., Hall, W., Makate, M., Norman, R., Peacock, A., Roche, A., Allsop, S. 2016, *Quantifying the Social Costs of Pharmaceutical Opioid Misuse and Illicit Opioid Use to Australia in 2015/16*, National Drug Research Institute, Curtin University, Perth, WA.

Wickham, H 2016, *ggplot2: Elegant Graphics for Data Analysis*, Springer-Verlag New York, 978-3-319-24277-4, <a href="https://ggplot2.tidyverse.org">https://ggplot2.tidyverse.org</a>>.

Wickham, H 2019, *stringr: Simple, Consistent Wrappers for Common String Operations*, R package version 1.4.0 edn, <a href="https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=stringr">https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=stringr</a>>.

Wickham, H, François, R, Henry, L & Müller, K 2020, *dplyr: A Grammar of Data Manipulation*, R package version 1.0.2 edn, <a href="https://dplyr.tidyverse.org">https://dplyr.tidyverse.org</a>,>.

Wickham, H & Hester, J 2020, *readr: Read Rectangular Text Data*, R package version 1.4.0 edn, <a href="https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=readr">https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=readr</a>>.

Wolf, ME & Jeziorski, M 1993, 'Coadministration of MK-801 with amphetamine, cocaine or morphine prevents rather than transiently masks the development of behavioral sensitization', *Brain Research*, vol. 613, no. 2, pp. 291-4.

World Health Organisation (WHO) 2021, *World Drug Report 2021*, <a href="https://www.unodc.org/unodc/data-and-analysis/wdr2021.html">https://www.unodc.org/unodc/data-and-analysis/wdr2021.html</a>>.

Yin, HH, Knowlton, BJ & Balleine, BW 2004, 'Lesions of dorsolateral striatum preserve outcome expectancy but disrupt habit formation in instrumental learning', *Eur J Neurosci*, vol. 19, no. 1, pp. 181-9.

Zanos, P, Georgiou, P, Gonzalez, LR, Hourani, S, Chen, Y, Kitchen, I, Kieffer, BL, Winsky-Sommerer, R & Bailey, A 2016, 'Emotional Impairment and Persistent Upregulation of mGlu5 Receptor following Morphine Abstinence: Implications of an mGlu5-MOPr Interaction', *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol*, vol. 19, no. 7.





Appendix A: Timecourse data for Tests 3, 4 and 5 for Experiment 2

Supplementary Figure 1: Time spent in zones during Test 3 in male and female WT-like and mGlu5 KO mice. Time [s] spent in the morphine- and saline- paired zones during Test 3 in (A) male WT, (B) male mGlu5 KO, (C) female WT-like and (D) female mGlu5 KO mice. Data presented as means  $\pm$  SEM and analysed using four-way RM ANOVA. Four-way RM ANOVA found no main effect of 'zone' [F(1,36) = 2.26, p = .142]. There was an interaction between 'genotype' and 'time' [F(5,180) = 6.27, p < .001].



Supplementary Figure 2: Distance travelled in zones by male and female WT-like and mGlu5 KO mice during Test 3. Distance travelled [cm] in the morphine- and saline- paired zones during Test 3 in (A) male mGlu5 KO and WT-like littermates and (B) female mGlu5 KO and WT-like littermates. Data presented as means  $\pm$  SEM and analysed using four-way RM ANOVA, followed by Bonferroni post hoc tests. Four-way RM ANOVA found a main effect of 'sex' [F(1,36) = 6.04, p = .019] and 'time' [F(5,180) = 3.66, p = .004] but not 'genotype' [F(1,36) = 2.29, p = .139] or 'zone' [F(1,36) = 3.23, p = .081]. There was an interaction between 'genotype' and 'time' [F(5,180) = 20.47, p < .001], 'sex' and 'time' [F(5,180) = 4.38, p = .004], 'zone' and 'time' [F(5,180) = 2.57, p = .039] and 'genotype', 'zone' and 'time' [F(5,180) = 3.29, p = .012]. Significant effects of 'zone' are indicated (p < 0.05; p < 0.01).



Supplementary Figure 3: Time spent in zones during Test 4 in male and female WT-like and mGlu5 KO mice. Time [s] spent in the morphine- and saline- paired zones during Test 4 in (A) male WT, (B) male mGlu5 KO, (C) female WT-like and (D) female mGlu5 KO mice. Data presented as means  $\pm$  SEM and analysed using four-way RM ANOVA. Four-way RM ANOVA found no main effect of 'zone' [F(1,36) = 0.27, p = .605]. There was an interaction between 'genotype', 'sex' and 'zone' [F(1,36) = 6.42, p = .016] and 'genotype' and 'time' [F(5,180) = 4.90, p < .001].



Supplementary Figure 4: Distance travelled in zones by male and female WT-like and mGlu5 KO mice during Test 4. Distance travelled [cm] in the morphine- and saline- paired zones during Test 4 in (A) male mGlu5 KO and WT-like littermates and (B) female mGlu5 KO and WT-like littermates. Data presented as means  $\pm$  SEM and analysed using four-way RM ANOVA. Four-way RM ANOVA found a main effect of 'sex' [F(1,36) = 4.53, p = .040] but not 'genotype' [F(1,36) = 0.50, p = .483], 'zone' [F(1,36) = 1.42, p = .241] or 'time' [F(5,180) = 2.17, p = .093]. There was an interaction between 'genotype' and 'time' [F(5,180) = 24.79, p < .001].



Supplementary Figure 5: Time spent in zones during Test 5 in male and female WT-like and mGlu5 KO mice. Time [s] spent in the morphine- and saline- paired zones during Test 5 in (A) male WT, (B) male mGlu5 KO, (C) female WT-like and (D) female mGlu5 KO mice. Data presented as means  $\pm$  SEM and analysed using four-way RM ANOVA. Four-way RM ANOVA found no main effect of 'zone' [F(1,36) = 2.90, p = .097]. There was an interaction between 'genotype' and 'time' [F(5,180) = 9.09, p < .001], 'sex' and 'time' [F(5,180) = 2.74, p = .032] and 'genotype', 'sex' and 'time' [F(5,180) = 2.46, p = .049].



Supplementary Figure 6: Distance travelled in zones by male and female WT-like and mGlu5 KO mice during Test 5. Distance travelled [cm] in the morphine- and saline- paired zones during Test 5 in (A) male mGlu5 KO and WT-like littermates and (B) female mGlu5 KO and WT-like littermates. Data presented as means  $\pm$  SEM and analysed using four-way RM ANOVA, followed by Bonferroni post hoc tests. Four-way RM ANOVA found a main effect of 'sex' [F(1,36) = 5.43, p = .026], 'zone' [F(1,36) = 4.19, p = .048] and 'time' [F(5,180) = 2.75, p = .041] but not 'genotype' [F(1,36) = 0.80, p = .377]. There was an interaction between 'genotype' and 'time' [F(5,180) = 19.13, p < .001] and 'genotype', 'sex', 'zone' and 'time' [F(5,180) = 2.86, p = .031]. Significant effects of 'zone' are indicated ('p < 0.05; "p < 0.01).



Appendix B: Timecourse data for Tests 3, 4 and 5 for Experiment 3

Supplementary Figure 7: Time spent in zones during Test 3 in male and female WT-like and mGlu5 KO mice. Time [s] spent in the morphine- and saline- paired zones during Test 3 in (A) male WT, (B) male mGlu5 KO, (C) female WT-like and (D) female mGlu5 KO mice. Data presented as means  $\pm$  SEM and analysed using four-way RM ANOVA, followed by Bonferroni post hoc tests. Four-way RM ANOVA found found no main effect of 'zone' [F(1,36) = 0.18, p = .675]. There was an interaction between 'genotype' and 'time' [F(5,180) = 6.89, p < .001] and 'zone' and 'time' [F(5,180) = 3.58, p = .012]. Significant effects of 'zone' are indicated (p< 0.05; p < 0.01).



Supplementary Figure 8: Distance travelled in zones by male and female WT-like and mGlu5 KO mice during Test 3. Distance travelled [cm] in the morphine- and saline- paired zones during Test 3 in (A) male WT-like and mGlu5 KO littermates and (B) female WT-like and mGlu5 KO littermates. Data presented as means  $\pm$  SEM and analysed using four-way RM ANOVA, followed by Bonferroni post hoc tests. Four-way RM ANOVA found a main effect of 'sex' [F(1,36) = 6.04, p = .019] and 'time' [F(5,180) = 3.66, p = .004] but not 'genotype' [F(1,36) = 2.29, p = .139] or 'zone' [F(1,36) = 3.23, p = .081]. There was an interaction between 'genotype' and 'time' [F(5,180) = 20.47, p < .001], 'sex' and 'time' [F(5,180) = 4.38, p = .004], 'zone' and 'time' [F(5,180) = 2.57, p = .039] and 'genotype', 'zone' and 'time' [F(5,180) = 3.29, p = .012]. Significant effects of 'zone' are indicated ( $^{n}p < 0.05$ ;  $^{n}p < 0.01$ ).



Supplementary Figure 9: Time spent in zones during Test 4 in male and female WT-like and mGlu5 KO mice. Time [s] spent in the morphine- and saline- paired zones during Test 4 in (A) male WT, (B) male mGlu5 KO, (C) female WT-like and (D) female mGlu5 KO mice. Data presented as means  $\pm$  SEM and analysed using four-way RM ANOVA. Four-way RM ANOVA found no main effect of 'zone' [F(1,36) = 0.01, p = .908].



Supplementary Figure 10: Distance travelled in zones by male and female WT-like and mGlu5 KO mice during Test 4. Distance travelled [cm] in the morphine- and saline- paired zones during Test 4 in (A) male WT-like and mGlu5 KO littermates and (B) female WT-like and mGlu5 KO littermates. Data presented as means  $\pm$  SEM and analysed using four-way RM ANOVA, followed by Bonferroni post hoc tests. Four-way RM ANOVA found a main effect of 'time' [F(5,180) = 6.66, p < .001] but not 'genotype' [F(1,36) = 0.24, p = .626], 'sex' [F(1,36) = 0.39, p = .843] or 'zone' [F(1,36) = 0.08, p = .781] . There was an interaction between 'genotype' and 'sex' [F(1,36) = 5.27, p = .028], 'genotype' and 'time' [F(5,180) = 26.78, p < .001], 'sex' and 'time' [F(5,180) = 4,20, p = .012] and 'genotype', 'zone' and 'time' [F(5,180) = 3.65, p = .005]. Significant effects of 'zone' are indicated (p < 0.05; p < 0.01).



Supplementary Figure 11: Time spent in zones during Test 5 in male and female WT-like and mGlu5 KO mice. Time [s] spent in the morphine- and saline- paired zones during Test 5 in (A) male WT, (B) male mGlu5 KO, (C) female WT-like and (D) female mGlu5 KO mice. Data presented as means  $\pm$  SEM and analysed using four-way RM ANOVA, followed by Bonferroni post hoc tests. Four-way RM ANOVA found no main effect of 'zone' [F(1,36) = 0.75, p = .391]. There was an interaction between 'genotype', 'sex' 'zone' and 'time' [F(5,180) = 3.62, p = .014]. There were no other interactions. Significant effects of 'zone' are indicated (p < 0.05; p < 0.01).



Supplementary Figure 12: Distance travelled in zones by male and female WT-like and mGlu5 KO mice during Test 5. Distance travelled [cm] in the morphine- and saline- paired zones during Test 5 in (A) male WT-like and mGlu5 KO littermates and (B) female WT-like and mGlu5 KO littermates. Data presented as means  $\pm$  SEM and analysed using four-way RM ANOVA, followed by Bonferroni post hoc tests. Four-way RM ANOVA found no main effect of 'genotype' [F(1,36) = 0.06, p = .803], 'sex' [F(1,36) = 1.18, p = .284], 'zone' [F(1,36) = 0.99, p = .326] and 'time' [F(5,180) = 1.48, p = .221]. There was an interaction between 'genotype' and 'sex' [F(1,36) = 1.81, p = .010], 'genotype' and 'time' [F(5,180) = 24.22, p < .001] and 'sex' and 'time' [F(5,180) = 5.61, p > .001]. Significant effects of 'zone' are indicated ('p < 0.05; "p < 0.01).